PENNICHUCK WATER SPECIAL COMMITTEE
APRIL 14, 2022
7:00 PM

Aldermanic Chamber and via Zoom

Join Zoom Meeting: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84732595308?pwd=VHZPQXl4YmhSYjVpQkxHSGQxejFydz09
Meeting ID: 847 3259 5308
Passcode: 198123
By telephone: 1-929-205-6099

Meeting ID: 847 3259 5308

Passcode: 198123

If for some reason you cannot connect to Zoom, please contact us at (603) 821-2049 and someone will help you with
connectivity. The public may also view this meeting via Channel 16.

ROLL CALL
ELECTION OF CLERK
PUBLIC COMMENT
COMMUNICATIONS
From:
Re:

Larry D. Goodhue, Chief Executive Officer of Pennichuck
Notice of Annual Meeting of Sole Shareholders and Proxy Statement; Proxy Card; and Annual Report to the
Sole Shareholders

From:
Re:

Larry D. Goodhue, Chief Executive Officer of Pennichuck
Pennichuck’s Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for years ended December 31, 2021 and
December 31, 2020

UNFINISHED BUSINESS
NEW BUSINESS – RESOLUTIONS
NEW BUSINESS – ORDINANCES
GENERAL DISCUSSION
PUBLIC COMMENT
REMARKS BY THE ALDERMEN
ADJOURNMENT

PENNICHUCK'

25 WALNUT STREET
PO BOX 428
K'A^HUA, NH 03061 0428
(603) 882 5191
FAX (603) 913-230S

VIA HAND DELIVERY

WWW. PENN'CHUCK COM

March 30, 2022

Ms. Lori Wilshire, President
Board of Aldermen
City of Nashua
229 Main Street
Nashua, NH 03060

Dear President Wilshire:
On behalf of the Pennichuck Corporation Board of Directors, I am enclosing the following items
with respect to the Annual Meeting of Sole Shareholder to be held on Saturday, May 7,2022, at
Pennichuck's Distribution Facility, 16 Daniel Webster Highway, Merrimack, NH.
1.
2.
3.

Notice of Annual Meeting of Sole Shareholder and Proxy Statement;
Proxy Card; and
Annual Report to the Sole Shareholder.

Please contact Thomas J. Leonard, Chairman of the Board of Directors, or me, if you need
further information.

Tipcrarrl«

Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer

cc.

Mayor James Donchess
Board of Aldermen
Steven Bolton, Corporation Counsel
Susan Lovering, City Clerk

PENNICHUCK

PENNICHUCK CORPORATION
25 Walnut Street
Nashua, New Hampshire 03060

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SOLE SHAREHOLDER
To be Held on Saturday, May 7, 2022, at 9:00 a.m. at
Pennicbuck's Distribution Facility, 16 Daniel Webster Highway, Merrimack, NH

To the City of Nashua, New Hampshire, in its capacity as the Sole Shareholder of Pennichuck
Corporation:
In accordance with the By-Laws of Pennichuck Corporation and applicable laws, Pennichuck
Corporation hereby provides notice that you are cordially invited to attend the Annual Meeting
of Sole Shareholder of Pennichuck Corporation. The City of Nashua, New Hampshire, is the
Sole Shareholder of Pennichuck Corporation.
The Annual Meeting will be held at Pennichuck's Distribution Facility, 16 Daniel Webster
Highway, Merrimack, New Hampshire, on Saturday, May 7, 2022, at 9:00 a.m. for the following
purpose:
1. To increase the number of directors from eleven to a full slate of thirteen
directors, and to: (a) elect five directors, each for a three-year term, and until
their successors are elected and qualified, and (b) elect one director, for a twoyear term, and until her successor is elected and qualified.
To facilitate the City's review of the matters to be addressed at the Annual Meeting, the
Pennichuck Corporation Board of Directors have approved the delivery of the Proxy Statement
attached to this Notice.
By Order of the Board of Directors,

LARRY D. GOODHUE
Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer
Nashua, New Hampshire
March 30, 2022

PENNICHUCK'

PENNICHUCK CORPORATION
25 Walnut Street
Nashua, New Hampshire 03060

PROXY STATEMENT
2022 Annual Meeting of Sole Shareholder
To be Held on Saturday, May 7, 2022, at 9:00 a.m. at
Pennichuck's Distribution Facility, 16 Daniel Webster Highway, Merrimack, NH

This Proxy Statement is furnished to the City of Nashua, New Hampshire (the "City"), in its
capacity as the Sole Shareholder of Pennichuck Corporation ("Pennichuck Corporation" or the
"Company"), by the Board of Directors of Pennichuck Corporation, in connection with the
solicitation of a proxy to be voted at the Annual Meeting of Sole Shareholder for the purpose set
forth in the accompanying Notice of Annual Meeting of Sole Shareholder.
The Annual Meeting will be held at Pennichuck's Distribution Facility, 16 Daniel Webster
Highway, Merrimack, New Hampshire, on Saturday, May 7, 2022, at 9:00 a.m.

Matter to be Voted Upon at the Annual Meeting
At the Annual Meeting, the City, in its capacity as'the Sole Shareholder of Pennichuck Corporation,
is being asked to consider and vote upon the following:
(1)

To increase the number of directors from eleven to a full slate of thirteen
directors, and to: (a) elect C. George Bower, Amymarie R. Corriveau, Jay N.
Lustig, John D. McGrath and Preston J. Stanley, Jr. to the Pennichuck
Corporation Board of Directors, as Class A directors, each for a three-year
term, and until their successors are elected and qualified, and (b) elect Sarah
Pillsbury to the Pennichuck Corporation Board of Directors, as a Class C
director, for a two-year term, and until her successor is elected and qualified.

Voting at the Annual Meeting
Background. Pennichuck Corporation was acquired by the City on January 25, 2012. This
acquisition was accomplished pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger reached between the
City and Pennichuck Corporation dated November 11, 2010 (the "Merger Agreement"). The
transaction, in which the City issued $150.6 million of general obligation bonds to acquire the
outstanding stock of Pennichuck Corporation and pay all transaction costs, was authorized by
special legislation enacted by the State Legislature in 2007 and 2010. The Mayor and the Board
of Aldermen unanimously approved the acquisition pursuant to this special legislation on

January 11,2011. The New Hampshire Public Utilities Commission approved the Merger
Agreement on November 23, 2011, concluding that "the transaction is in the public interest and
will not have an adverse effect on rates, terms, service, or operation of the utilities."
Corporate Structure. As part of the acquisition, the corporate structure of Pennichuck
Corporation and its utility subsidiaries was retained. Under this structure, the City is the sole
shareholder of Pennichuck Corporation. Pennichuck Corporation continues to own five
corporate subsidiaries, including three regulated public utilities (Pennichuck Water Works, Inc.,
Pennichuck East Utility, Inc., and Pittsfield Aqueduct Company, Inc.), an unregulated service
company (Pennichuck Water Service Corporation), and a former real estate holding company
(The Southwood Corporation).
Election of the Board of Directors. Under this corporate governance system, the City exercises
its control over Pennichuck Corporation in its capacity as the Company's Sole Shareholder in
accordance with the Articles of Incorporation, the By-Laws and the New Hampshire laws
governing business corporations. In accordance with these rules, Pennichuck Corporation's
business affairs are managed and overseen by a Board of Directors. One of the most important
responsibilities of the City, in its capacity as Sole Shareholder, is to elect members of the Board
of Directors from individuals nominated by the Pennichuck Corporation Board of Directors at
the Company's Annual Meeting.
Voting at the Annual Meeting. It is important to remember that the City itself is the Sole
Shareholder, not any individual person who may hold an office with the City. The City must
exercise its responsibilities as Sole Shareholder through public meetings of the City's Board of
Aldermen and Mayor, acting in accordance with applicable New Hampshire laws and the
provisions of the City Charter. As a municipal entity, the City is not typically in a position to
"attend" an annual meeting, or any other meeting of the Sole Shareholder, "in person."
Traditional corporate law principles provide a ready solution for this type of "institutional"
voting of shares. As the Sole Shareholder, the City may review the proposed vote and take
action at appropriate City meetings determined by the City. The City may then either designate
an individual person to attend the Annual Meeting in person with the authority to vote the City's
shares in accordance with the City's determination, or the City may vote its shares by proxy.
To facilitate these options, the Pennichuck Corporation Board of Directors has prepared this
Proxy Statement which contains details of the business to be conducted at the Annual Meeting.
If the City determines to vote its shares by proxy, it should cause the enclosed proxy card to be
completed and returned to Pennichuck Corporation prior to the Annual Meeting. By executing
the enclosed proxy card, the City will be designating the actions it has determined to take with
respect to the matters to be heard at the Annual Meeting and will be authorizing the officers of
the Company named on the proxy card to act as the City's proxy to vote on the City's behalf at
the Annual Meeting in accordance with the instructions set forth on the proxy card.
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Corporate Governance Matters
Current Board of Directors. The Pennichuck Corporation Board of Directors is divided into
three classes, each class serving for three years following their election and until their successors
have been elected and qualified.
The number of directors is currently fixed at eleven. Of the eleven directors, four have terms
ending in 2022 (Class A), four have terms ending in 2023 (Class B), and three have terms ending
in 2024 (Class C).
The current members of the Company's Board of Directors are as follows:
Term Expiring 2022
Class A

Term Expiring 2023
Class B

Term Expiring 2024
Class C

C. George Bower
Jay N. Lustig
John D. McGrath
Preston J. Stanley, Jr.

James P. Dore
Elizabeth A. Dunn
H. Scott Flegal
Deborah Novotny

David P. Bernier
Stephen D. Genest
Thomas J. Leonard

The Board of Directors is recommending that the Sole Shareholder elect two new members to
the Board, Amymarie R. Corriveau (Class A) and Sarah Pillsbury (Class C), increasing the
current number of directors from eleven to a full slate of thirteen.
Board Meetings, Committee Meetings and Attendance. In 2021, the Company' s Board of
Directors held 13 Board meetings and 14 Committee meetings, either virtually or in person.
Each current member of the Board attended a majority of the total number of meetings of the
Board of Directors and the number of meetings of all committees of the Board on which they
served. All but two members of the Board of Directors attended the 2021 "virtual" Annual
Meeting of Sole Shareholder.
Board Compensation, In 2021, each director received an annual retainer of $12,000.
Annual Performance Evaluation. The Board of Directors conducts an annual self-evaluation
of the Board and its Committees to determine whether they are functioning effectively. Each
Committee is also required to evaluate their performance.
Corporate Code of Conduct. The Company has adopted a written Corporate Code of Conduct
that applies to its directors, officers and employees. A current copy of the Corporate Code of
Conduct can be found on the Company's website at www.pennichuck.com, under the "Board of
Directors - Meetings, Minutes and Corporate Governance" caption.
Board Committees. The Board of Directors has established four standing committees: the
Audit, Finance and Risk Committee, the Communications Committee, the Compensation and
Benefits Committee, and the Nominating and Governance Committee.
Each Committee has adopted a written Charter which sets forth its purpose, membership,
duties and responsibilities. A copy of each Charter can be found on the Company's website at
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www.pennichuck.com, under the "Board of Directors - Meetings, Minutes and Corporate
Governance" caption.
The current members of the Board Committees are as follows:
Audit, Finance and Risk Committee

Communications Committee

James P. Dore, Chairman
C. George Bower
H. Scott Flegal
Thomas J. Leonard
Deborah Novotny

Jay N. Lustig, Chairman
James P. Dore
Thomas J. Leonard
Deborah Novotny
Preston J. Stanley, Jr.

Compensation and Benefits Committee

Nominating and Governance Committee

Stephen D. Genest, Chairman
David P. Bernier
C. George Bower
Elizabeth A. Dunn
Thomas J. Leonard
John D. McGrath

Elizabeth A. Dunn, Chairman
Stephen D. Genest
Thomas J. Leonard
Jay N. Lustig
Preston J. Stanley, Jr.

Audit, Finance and Risk Committee. The Audit, Finance and Risk Committee is responsible for
the appointment, compensation and retention of the independent auditors; preapproval of all
audit and non-audit services to be provided by the independent auditors; review and approval of
all related party transactions; review and evaluation of the qualifications, performance and
independence of the lead partner of the independent auditors; oversight of the integrity of the
Company's financial statements and internal controls; oversight of Company financing activities;
oversight of the policies and procedures established to assess, monitor and control operational
and financial risk; and oversight of the Company's insurance programs. The Audit, Finance and
Risk Committee held 3 meetings in 2021, either virtually or in person.
Communications Committee. The Communications Committee develops and assists with the
policies and strategies of external communications between the Board, the Company and the Sole
Shareholder, other stakeholders, and the public, as needed. The Communications Committee held
1 virtual meeting in 2021. The Board of Directors, at their March 25, 2022 meeting, voted to
dissolve the Communications Committee and to add the purpose and responsibilities of the
Communications Committee to the Nominating and Governance Committee Charter.
Compensation and Benefits Committee. The Compensation and Benefits Committee is
responsible for annually reviewing and approving corporate goals and objectives relevant to
Chief Executive Officer compensation; evaluating the Chief Executive Officer's performance in
light of those goals and objectives, and determining and recommending to the Board of Directors
the Chief Executive Officer's compensation based on evaluation of performance; reviewing and
approving executive salaries; reviewing and approving any employment agreements, special
compensation and benefits, or severance arrangements as they pertain to executive officers other
than the Chief Executive Officer; overseeing the Company's compensation and benefit policies,
other than those overseen directly by the Board of Directors; recommending to the Board of
Directors the establishment, termination or amendment of existing compensation and employee
4

benefit plans, other than those under the purview of the Board of Directors or other designated
committees; and developing a succession plan for the Chief Executive Officer and senior
management and making recommendations for succession to the Board of Directors. The
Compensation and Benefits Committee held 4 meetings in 2021, either virtually or in person.
Nominating and Governance Committee. The Nominating and Governance Committee is
responsible for identifying individuals qualified to become Board members; recommending to the
Board the persons to be nominated by the Board for election as directors at the Annual Meeting of
Sole Shareholder; developing and recommending to the Board of Directors a set of corporate
governance principles; overseeing an annual self-evaluation of the Board; and annually reviewing
the Corporate Code of Conduct. The Nominating and Governance Committee is authorized to
retain advisors and consultants and to compensate them for their services. The Nominating and
Governance Committee did not retain such advisors or consultants during 2021. The Nominating
and Governance Committee held 5 meetings in 2021, either virtually or in person.
As part of the nomination process, the Nominating and Governance Committee reviewed the
current composition of the Board as a whole, reviewed the qualifications and performance of the
incumbent directors who are up for re-election to the Board in 2022, discussed recommendations
from Board members and management to identify potential director candidates, evaluated the
biographical and background information of potential director candidates, and held both nonpublic and public interviews of selected candidates.
The Nominating and Governance Committee considers whether to nominate any candidate for
director in accordance with the criteria set forth in its Charter, subject to the restrictions set forth
in the Company's By-Laws. These criteria include the candidate's integrity, business acumen,
knowledge of the Company's business and industry, experience, diligence, conflicts of interest,
and the ability to act in the interests of the Sole Shareholder. The Committee does not assign
specific weights to particular criteria and no particular criterion is a prerequisite for each
prospective nominee. The backgrounds and qualifications of the Company's directors,
considered as a group, should provide a composite mix of experience, knowledge and abilities
that will allow the Board of Directors to fulfill its responsibilities.
Senior Management

The members of the Company's Senior Management team are as follows:

Larry D. Goodhue, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
Mr. Goodhue has been the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of
Pennichuck Corporation and its subsidiaries since November 6,2015. He was the Chief
Financial Officer and Controller from March 2012 through November 2015, and Treasurer
from March 2012 until May 2,2020. He was Controller from December 2006 to March
2012. Mr. Goodhue served as a financial consultant to Metrobility Optical Systems, Inc.
from July 2006 to October 2006 and to Pennichuck Corporation from October 2006 to
November 2006. From October 2005 to June 2006, he was the Vice President of Finance
and Administration for Metrobility Optical Systems, Inc. and the Corporate Controller from
September 2000 to September 2005. From May 2000 to August 2000, he served as Acting
Chief Operating Officer for Annalee Mobilitee Dolls, Inc. and was the Controller from
January 1998 to April 2000. Mr. Goodhue holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Business
Administration from Merrimack College, and is a Certified Public Accountant in the State

5

of New Hampshire (for which his certification is currently in an inactive status).
Mr. Goodhue's base annual salary beginning as of April 1, 2021 was $226,353.
Donald L. Ware, Chief Operating Officer
Mr. Ware has been the Chief Operating Officer of Pennichuck Corporation since
January 27, 2012. He was the Senior Vice President of Operations and Engineering of
Pennichuck Corporation from 2004 to January 2012, and Chief Engineer and Vice President
from 1995 to 2004. Mr. Ware is also the Chief Operating Officer of Pennichuck Water
Works, Inc. and the Company's other water utilities. From 1986 to 1995, Mr. Ware was
General Manager for the Augusta Water District in Augusta, Maine. Mr. Ware holds a
Bachelor of Science degree in Civil Engineering from Bucknell University and a Master of
Business Administration degree from the Whittemore Business School at the University of
New Hampshire. Mr. Ware's base annual salary beginning as of April 1, 2021 was $217,548.

Summary of Proposal to be Voted Upon at the Annual Meeting
PROPOSAL 1 - ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
On February 25, 2022, the Company's Board of Directors took action to recommend that the
Sole Shareholder increase the number of directors from eleven to a full slate of thirteen, and to
(a) elect C. George Bower, Amymarie R. Corriveau, Jay N. Lustig, John D. McGrath and Preston
J. Stanley, Jr. to the Pennichuck Corporation Board of Directors, as Class A directors, each for a
three-year term, and until their successors are elected and qualified; and (b) elect Sarah Pillsbury
to the Pennichuck Corporation Board of Directors, as a Class C director, for a two-year term, and
until her successor is elected and qualified.
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS A VOTE "FOR" EACH OF THESE SIX
NOMINEES.
Information regarding the professional backgrounds for each nominee follows:
Nominees for Director:
C. George Bower
(Director Since: November 2014)

Dr. Bower has been the Principal of ESRA Consulting, LLC, a professional consulting
practice concentrated on the development of safety, health and environmental programs,
from 1994 to present. From 1992 to 1994, Dr. Bower was President of National Soils, Inc.,
an applied technology company specializing in the development and management of
industrial facilities and waste treatment operations. He was Senior Associate and Chief
Scientist of Environmental Science and Engineering, Inc. from 1988 to 1992. Dr. Bower
holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Social Sciences from Lock Haven University; a
Master's degree in Transportation Safety from the University of Central Missouri; and a
Ph.D. from Michigan State University. In 2018, he was elected as Moderator of the
Souhegan Cooperative School District.
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Amy m arie R. Corriveau
(Director Since: N/A)

Ms. Corriveau has been the President of Trinnex, Inc., a subsidiary of CDM Smith, Inc.,
since the company's inception in January 2022. From 2000 to 2021, Ms. Corriveau held a
number of positions with CDM Smith (an engineering and construction firm), including
Vice President, Director of Digital Solutions (2020 to 2021), Director of Emerging
Business Development (2018 to 2020), Director of Project Planning and Analysis for
Business Technology (2015 to 2020), and Management Consultant (2000 to 2017). Prior to
joining CDM Smith in the fall of 2000, Ms. Corriveau worked as an environmental
engineer for Black & Veatch. Ms. Corriveau holds a Bachelor of Science degree in
Hydrology from the University of New Hampshire, and a Masters of Engineering degree in
Civil and Environmental Engineering from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology. In
addition to her technical role at CDM Smith, Ms. Corriveau serves in numerous leadership
positions within industry organizations, such as the Water Environment Federation, Water
Research Foundation, and American Water Works Association.

Jay N. Lustig
(Director Since: January 2012)

Mr. Lustig is currently the Maritime Domain Business Operations Principal at the
MITRE Corporation in Bedford, Massachusetts, a not-for-profit corporation that operates
6 Federally Funded Research and Development Centers for the U.S. Government.
Mr. Lustig has C-Level management experience working with a variety of engineering
disciplines with a primary focus on research and development. He has extensive
experience working government programs and contracts. A former financial advisor,
Mr. Lustig also possesses a deep understanding of the financial and business aspects that
are unique to Pennichuck Corporation. A graduate of the Isenberg School of Management
at the University of Massachusetts, Amherst, Jay and his wife have been residents of
Nashua since 1984.

John D. McGrath
(Director Since: January 2012)

Mr. McGrath has been the Vice President of Construction Operations for Methuen
Construction Co., Inc., in Plaistow, NH, since April 2019. He was a Project Executive for
Methuen Construction from 2016 to April 2019, and a Project Manager from 2007 to 2016.
From 1999 to 2007, Mr. McGrath was a Project Engineer for Barletta Engineering
Corporation in Canton, MA. Mr. McGrath has spent more than 20 years managing projects
specifically related to the rehabilitation, upgrade and construction of water and wastewater
facilities. Mr. McGrath holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Civil and Environmental
Engineering from Northeastern University.

Sarah Pillsbury
(Director Since: N/A)

Ms. Pillsbury retired in 2020 from the New Hampshire Department of Environmental
Services (NHDES), where she held a number of positions, focused primarily on the
protection and enhancement of New Hampshire's drinking water and groundwater. Prior to
her retirement, from 2006 to 2020, Ms. Pillsbury was the Administrator of the Drinking
Water and Groundwater Bureau at the NHDES. Ms. Pillsbury holds a Bachelor of Science
degree in Resource Economics from the University of New Hampshire.

Preston J. Stanley, Jr.
(Director Since: January 2012)

Mr. Stanley has been the Owner and Manager of Stanley Iron Works in Nashua, NH, since
1982. From 1961 to 1982, Mr. Stanley served in various positions with Ingersoll Rand in
Nashua, NH, including Service Center Manager, Manager of Materials, and Project
Engineer and Supervisor. Mr. Stanley holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Mechanical
Engineering and a Master's degree in Business and Economics from the University of
Maine.

8

COPY - FOR INFORMATION ONLY
PENNICHUCK'

PROXY CARD
PENNICHUCK CORPORATION
PROXY for Annual Meeting of Sole Shareholder - May 7, 2022
THIS PROXY IS SOLICITED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Sole Shareholder, the City of Nashua, New Hampshire, hereby appoints LARRY D. GOODHUE or
DONALD L. WARE, as proxies to represent and vote as designated hereon, all shares of common stock of
Pennichuck Corporation (the "Company") which the Sole Shareholder would be entitled to vote if personally
present at the Annual Meeting of Sole Shareholder of the Company to be held on Saturday, May 7, 2022, at
9:00 a.m., at the Company's Distribution Facility, 16 Daniel Webster Highway, Merrimack, New Hampshire.
The shares represented by this proxy will be voted as directed by the Sole Shareholder.
~

^

^

*

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR all nominees named in Proposal 1.
Proposal 1:
To increase the number of directors from eleven to a full slate of thirteen and to:
(a) elect C. George Bower, Amymarie R. Corriveau, Jay N. Lustig, John D. McGrath and
Preston J. Stanley, Jr. to the Pennichuck Corporation Board of Directors, as Class A
directors, each for a three-year term, and until their successors are elected and qualified;
and
(b) elect Sarah Pillsbury to the Pennichuck Corporation Board of Directors, as a Class C
director, for a two-year term, and until her successor is elected and qualified.

C. George Bower
Amymarie R. Corriveau
Jay N. Lustig
John D. McGrath
Sarah Pillsbury
Preston J. Stanley, Jr.

For

Against

•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•

Authorized Signature:
CITY OF NASHUA, NEW HAMPSHIRE (Sole Shareholder)
By:
Name:

..

Date:

.

Title:

This Proxy Card is Valid Only When Signed and Dated

Pennichuck*

March 30, 2022

ANNUAL REPORT TO THE SOLE SHAREHOLDER

Dear Shareholder:
The Annual Meeting of Pennichuck Corporation ("Pennichuck" or the "Company") will be held
at 9:00 a.m. on Saturday, May 7, 2022, at the Company's Distribution Facility, 16 Daniel
Webster Highway, Merrimack, New Hampshire.
Background on the City's Acquisition and Our Corporate Structure. The City's acquisition of
the shares of Pennichuck Corporation was completed on January 25, 2012. As part of the
acquisition, the corporate structure of Pennichuck Corporation and its subsidiaries was retained.
Under the structure, the City of Nashua is the sole shareholder of Pennichuck Corporation.
Under the Company's By-Laws, the City in its capacity as shareholder makes its decisions
through actions by its Board of Aldermen, in accordance with the City's Charter. No single
person - the Mayor or any individual member of the Board of Aldermen - is him or herself a
shareholder; rather, the entity of the City itself is the sole shareholder of Pennichuck Corporation
represented by the Board of Aldermen and the Mayor.
Pennichuck continues to own five corporate subsidiaries, including three regulated utilities
(Pennichuck Water Works, Inc., Pennichuck East Utility, Inc., and Pittsfield Aqueduct Company,
Inc.), an unregulated service company (Pennichuck Water Service Corporation), and a shell
company (The Southwood Corporation).
As unanimously approved by the City's Board of Aldermen at the time of the acquisition, the
corporate structure was retained for several reasons.
First, the City's Mayor and Board of Aldermen desired to maintain some stability and continuity
for all of the customers and employees of the Pennichuck companies. Retaining the existing
corporate structure minimized the need for any radical changes to the utility companies and
operations and encouraged support by all of the communities served by the utilities.
Second, retaining the corporate structure provided continuity for the regulatory and financial
status of the companies and their respective businesses. The New Hampshire Public Utilities
Commission continues to provide regulatory oversight for the utility companies, and banks,
lenders and other contract parties continue to be able to rely on existing contracts and other rules
with respect to financing and other operations.
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Third, the Mayor and Board of Aldermen unanimously agreed to establish a corporate
governance system for the purposes of managing Pennichuck Corporation. This corporate
governance system relies upon well-established principles of corporate law, and is established
pursuant to Pennichuck Corporation's Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws, as adopted by the
City and the Company at the time of the acquisition pursuant to the Merger Agreement.
This well-known corporate governance model, which incorporates well-established principles
regarding fiduciary obligations of board members, was structured to provide assurances to the
City's rating agencies, potential lenders, the New Hampshire Public Utilities Commission and
the many communities we serve that decisions are based on sound business and financial
analysis, and in a manner that minimizes political considerations.
Operations, Communities and Customers. Our companies provide water service to a wide
range of communities and customers.
Pennichuck Water Works, Inc. (hereinafter referred to in this report as Pennichuck Water Works)
provides water service to approximately 29,000 customers in 11 communities which include
Amherst, Bedford, Derry, Epping, Hollis, Merrimack, Milford, Nashua, Newmarket, Plaistow
and Salem.
Pennichuck East Utility, Inc. (hereinafter referred to in this report as Pennichuck East Utility)
provides water service to approximately 8,600 customers in 19 communities which include
Atkinson, Barnstead, Bow, Chester, Conway, Derry, Exeter, Hooksett, Lee, Litchfield,
Londonderry, Middleton, Pelham, Plaistow, Raymond, Sandown, Tilton, Weare and Windham.
Pittsfield Aqueduct Company, Inc. (hereinafter referred to in this report as Pittsfield Aqueduct)
provides water service to approximately 650 customers in Pittsfield.
Pennichuck Water Service Corporation (hereinafter referred to in this report as the Service
Company) provides service in connection with the management of water operations services for
1 community; water operations, billing, collection and customer services for 3 communities;
billing services for 4 communities; and water meter testing services, as well as contracted water
services at various levels, for approximately 70 small independently owned water systems.
The Southwood Corporation previously owned various parcels of land in the Town of
Merrimack, which were all transferred to ownership by Pennichuck Corporation as of the end of
2019. Southwood remains as a "corporate shell" at this time, in order to facilitate any actions
which might arise from legacy contractual obligations.
The Company's mission is to be a premier supplier of water in New Hampshire by providing
reliable, high quality and affordable water in sufficient quantities, and be New England's
premier supplier of water related contract services by providing high quality solutions to meet
our customers' needs.
Strategies supporting the corporate mission have been developed relative to our water resources,
employees, financing, customer services and Company assets. These strategies are available on the
Company's website, www.pennichuck.com, under the "Management and Financial Information"
caption, and the sub-caption of "Strategic Plan."
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The Company currently has 126 employees. The employees are committed to supporting the
Company's mission. Each of our managers has goals and objectives to support the strategies
supporting the mission. Pennichuck is an Equal Opportunity/Affirmative Action Employer. It is
the policy of the Company to hire, train, promote, and otherwise provide terms and conditions of
employment without regard to race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity,
national origin, ancestry, age, marital status, pregnancy, disability or veteran status. All
employment and promotion decisions are based solely on valid requirements, in accordance with
the principles of equal employment opportunity and affirmative action.
Financial Performance During the Last Year
($ Millions)
4lh Quarter
Year-to-Date
2021
2020
2021
2020
Revenues
$13.8
Operating Expenses
(10.7)
Operating Income
3.1
Interest Expense
(3.3)
Other Income
0.0
Pre-Tax Income (Loss)
(0.2)
Income Tax Provision (Benefit)
0.2
Net Income (Loss)
(0.4)
Dividends Paid to the Shareholder
0.1
Earnings Before Interest, Taxes,
Depreciation and Amortization (EBITDA)
5.4
•

$12.1
(10.4)
1.7
(3.6)
0.1
(1.8)
0.8
(2.6)
0.1

$51.7
(42.0)
9.7
(13.9)
0.3
(3.9)
(0.2)
(3.7)
0.3

$49.7
C39.4)
10.3
(11.9)
0.1
(1.5)
0.5
(2.0)
0.3

4.0

18.9

19.1

Consolidated revenues for the fourth quarter increased by $1.7 million from $12.1 million
in 2020 to $13.8 million in 2021. The increase is attributable to (1) $2.3 million in
additional recoupment revenues earned and recorded for Pennichuck Water Works in the
fourth quarter, which resulted from the December 9, 2021 NHPUC issued Order No.
26,555. This order approved a QCPAC surcharge of 3.9%, which was effective for capital
projects placed in service in 2019; and (2) on November 9,2021, the NHPUC issued
Order No. 26,544 approving a permanent rate increase of 5.45% for Pittsfield Aqueduct,
becoming effective with services rendered back to December 17, 2020.
• Consolidated year-to-date revenues increased from $49.7 million in 2020 to $51.7 million
in 2021, an increase of 4.0%. Revenues from the regulated utilities increased due to:
(1) the additional $2.3 million in recoupment revenues recorded for Pennichuck Water
Works, resulting from the December 9, 2021 NHPUC order, as previously discussed;
(2) the 5.45% permanent rate increase for Pittsfield Aqueduct, which was approved by the
NHPUC on November 9, 2021, as previously discussed; and (3) the Service Company
revenues which increased from the prior year due to increases in their Unplanned Revenues
and Backflow Sales, as these activities returned to their historical pre-COVID-19 pandemic
levels.

Consolidated operating expenses increased by $0.3 million for the fourth quarter of 2021,
over the same quarter in 2020. The increase is related to a rise in direct operating costs
associated with the rate increases in fuel, power and purification costs. The Company has
also recognized increases in its employee benefit costs, including but not limited to,
employee pension costs and healthcare premiums.
Consolidated operating expenses increased by $2.6 million, or 6.6%, for the full year,
from 2020 to 2021, mainly due to the higher direct production costs, as well as labor and
benefit costs, as previously discussed.
Interest expense increased in 2021 when compared to 2020 due to interest costs
associated with: (1) the additional financed amounts for capital projects which have been
incurred for ongoing infrastructure replacement, in conformity with the Company's key
mission objectives; (2) interest costs associated with a $2.5 million Paycheck Protection
Program Loan which was received on May 7, 2020 as part of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief
and Economic Security Act; and (3) increased debt amortization costs associated with the
write-off to maturity in 2014 and 2015 of escrow deposits required to facilitate the
advanced refunding of existing debt, which resulted from the issuance of $73.6 million of
taxable bonds by Pennichuck Water Works on September 2,2020.
Pre-tax loss for the fourth quarter decreased to $0.2 million in 2021 versus $1.8 million in
2020, due to the increase in overall revenues as previously discussed.
The pre-tax loss for the year increased from $1.5 million in 2020 to $3.9 million in 2021,
or 160%. This was due to the $2.0 million increase in interest expense coupled with
operating expense increases, as discussed previously, which resulted in a higher pre-tax
loss in 2021.
Dividends paid to the sole shareholder in both 2021 and 2020 were consistent with, and
were paid pursuant to, the CBFRR structure provided for in the New Hampshire Public
Utilities Commission's Order approving the City's ownership of the Company.
The Income Tax Provision in the current year reflects the tax accounting for the amortization
of the Municipal Acquisition Regulatory Asset, which is not deductible for tax purposes, and
as such, constitutes a permanent difference in the deductibility of those amortization
expenses for tax purposes, as opposed to their inclusion in the GAAP based financial
statements. The Income Tax Provision (Benefit) also reflects the taxation of CIAC as
income for Regulated Water Utilities, due to the elimination of an exemption allowed prior to
the passage of the 2017 Tax Cuts and Jobs Act ("TCJA") which made broad and complex
changes to the U.S. tax code. However, on November 27,2019, the regulated utilities
received NHPUC approval on the requested amendments to their tariffs which now allow for
recovery of tax costs from developers and other CIAC contributors. This will now allow the
regulated utilities to fully fund the associated tax liability, which resulted from the change in
the 2017 federal tax law, for all CIAC contributions from independent third parties. On
November 6, 2021, the CIAC tax exemption, for federal income taxes, was subsequently
reinstated with passage of the federal infrastructure bill, but only for contributions made after
December 31, 2020. A bill is in the process of receiving final approval in the State of NH,

that will reinstate the exemption from taxation of CIAC, for NHBPT taxes, if and when
passed. Due to these two significant items, the year-to-date results reflect a tax provision of
approximately 4.9% of pre-tax income for 2021, compared to the statutory tax rate expense
of 27.08%.
Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization increased in the fourth
quarter from $4.0 million in 2020 to $5.4 million in 2021, or 35.0%, due to an increase in
revenues as discussed previously, over-and-above any operating expense increases.
Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization for 2021 decreased
from 2020 by approximately $0.2 million, or 1.0%, again due to increased operating
expenses year-over-year, over-and-above any earned revenue increases.
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Unaudited Cash Flow

Statement

Cash Flow on a GAAP basis for the fourth quarter of 2021 as compared to the fourth quarter of
2020, and the year-to-date 2021 versus 2020, are as follows:
(SOOO'sl
Quarter Ended
Year-to-Date
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2021
2020
2021
2020

Operating Activities:
Net Income (Loss)
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income (Loss)
to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:
Depreciation and Amortization
Provision for Deferred Taxes
(Gain) on Disposition of Property
Other
Changes in Assets and Liabilities:
(Increase) Decrease in Accounts Receivable
(Increase) Decrease in Inventory
(Increase) Decrease in Other Assets
Increase (Decrease) in Accounts Payable
Increase (Decrease) in Other Liabilities

$ (400)

$ (2,577)

2,275
200
(345)
235

2,223
790
0
(8)

8,843
(161)
(345)
(33)

8,637
534
0
(33)

(1,375)
(59)
3,837
898
(2.509)

(964)
28
(3,686)
287
4.265

(1,084)
(135)
8,544
(521)
(2.2061

(3,154)
50
(2,441)
(550)
2.610

2.757

358

9.203

3.669

Purchases of Property, Plant & Equipment,
including the Debt Component of AFUDC
(Increase) Decrease in Restricted Cash/Investments
Proceeds from Sale of Property
Change in Deferred Land Costs

(2,690)
0
712
0

(4,419)
0
0
0

(8,816)
0
429
0

(10,165)
0
0
0

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Investing Activities

(1,978)

(4,419)

(8,387)

(10,165)

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities

$ (3.6991

$ (1.984)

Investing Activities:

Financing Activities:
Borrowings (Repayments) on Line of Credit
Payments on Long-term Debt
Contributions in Aid of Construction
Proceeds from Long-term Borrowings
Debt Issuance Costs
Dividends Paid
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities
Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period

1,055
(1,156)
17
2,546
0
(69)

218
(1,064)
15
2,255
0
(701

1,128
(6,348)
40
9,614
0
(2791

(3,803)
(77,588)
35
87,290
0
(280)

2.393

1,354

4,155

5,654

3,172
11.231

(2,707)
12.139

4,971
9.432

(842)
10,274

$ 14.403

$ 9.432

$ 14.403

$

9.432
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Unaudited Balance

Sheet

($000'si
As of
December 31. 2021

As of
December 31. 2020

$ 245,197

$ 242,469

Cash
Restricted Cash No,e 1
Investments - Bond Project Funds
Accounts Receivable Nole2
Inventory
Other Current Assets Nole3

1,493
12,656
255
9,869
733
1.431

310
8,885
237
8,785
598
1,797

Total Current Assets

26.437

20,612

Acquisition Premium N°,t4
Other Assets

65,082
12,517

67,202
17,014

Total Other Assets

77.599

84.216

S 349.233

$ 347.297

$ C3.4641

$

Assets
Property, Plant & Equipment, Net
Current Assets:

Other Assets:

TOTAL ASSETS
Shareholders'

Equity and Liabilities

Shareholders' Equity
Bonds, Notes and Mortgages Note5

412

233.265

226,912

6,608
6,607
6.245

5,480
6,020
5.474

19,460

16,974

CI AC, net
Deferred Income Taxes
Accrued Pension Liability No,e6
Other Long-Term Liabilities

57,302
14,850
12,159
15,661

56,536
14,931
15,424

Total Other Long-Term Liabilities

99,972

102.999

$ 349.233

S 347.297

Current Liabilities:
Lines of Credit
Current Portion of Long-Term Debt
Other Current Liabilities
Total Current Liabilities
Other Long-Term Liabilities:

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND
LIABILITIES

16,108
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Notes to Balance Sheet
Note 1 (Restricted Cash) - At December 31, 2021, the balance of $12.7 million represents an
increase of $3.8 million from the end of 2020, mainly due to the cash generated from the increased
revenue levels year-over-year, as well as the approved changes in the allowed revenue structure
for Pennichuck Water Works in its last filed rate case (and pending for Pennichuck East Utility in
its currently approved rate case), which has a new structure element included (the MOEF Material Operating Expense Factor) designed to reinforce the Company's ongoing cash flow
position on an ongoing basis, and between permanent rate filings.
Note 2 (Accounts Receivable) At December 31, 2021, the balance in Accounts Receivable
increased approximately $1.1 million from the year-end total at December 31, 2020 of $8.8 million.
This is attributed to: (I) revenue increases generated by the regulated utilities due to the increased
consumption levels year-over-year; and (2) the additional $2.3 million in recoupment revenues
recorded for Pennichuck Water Works (which remain as unbilled receivables as of December 31,
2021), resulting from the December 9, 2021 NHPUC order as previously discussed.
Note 3 (Other Current Assets) At December 31,2021, approximately $0.9 million of this
balance is comprised of prepaid property taxes, which will be expensed in the first quarter of
2022, relating to taxes paid in November and December of 2021 for the second half of the
property tax year ended March 31, 2021.
Note 4 (Acquisition Premium) In accordance with GAAP, the Acquisition Premium is being
written-off over the 30-year life of the principal of the City Acquisition Debt. This amortization
will continue until the full value of this asset is written off in January 2042.
Note 5 (Bonds, Notes and Mortgages) - At December 31, 2021, the balance in Bonds, Notes and
Mortgages increased approximately $6.4 million from the year-end total at December 31, 2020 of
$226.9 million. This is attributed to the additional financed amounts for capital projects which
have been incurred for ongoing infrastructure replacement, in conformity with the Company's key
mission objectives.
Note 6 (Accrued Pension Liability) - During 2021, approximately $1.1 million was contributed into
the Pension Plan, while approximately $0.8 million in benefit payments were made to participants,
and approximately $2.9 million of investment gains were recorded, attributed to changes in market
values.

Capital expenditures in the fourth quarter of 2021 were $2.2 million compared to $4.9 million in
the fourth quarter of 2020. For the year 2021 „ capital expenditures were $8.7 million as
compared to $10.7 million in 2020.
The major expenditures for 2021 were as follows:
Kessler Farm Tank Replacement
Coburn Woods Main Replacements
Merrimack River Pumping Station
Locke Lake Surface Water Treatment

$3,967,000
$653,000
$270,000
$253,000

Rate Cases
Pennichuck Water Works - On October 21, 2021, Pennichuck Water Works filed an emergency
tariff sheet request for approval with the NHPUC. The Company's emergency tariff filing was on
behalf of a single customer, the Merrimack Village District (MVD), and would allow this
customer to purchase bulk water at Pennichuck Water Works' variable cost of production. The
initial rate to be billed will be $0.67 per cubic feet. This would allow MVD access to Pennichuck
Water Works' bulk water supply in late 2021 and during 2022, while MVD's water supply
systems are brought into compliance with water quality regulations for PFAS contaminants.
On November 12, 2021, the NHPUC issued Order No. 26,552, with an effective date of
November 20, 2021, approving Pennichuck Water Works' request for an emergency tariff filing
on behalf of a single customer, the MVD. This emergency tariff is on a temporary basis and
must not exceed a term longer than six months from the effective date. In conjunction with this,
Pennichuck Water Works also opened a docket under DW 21-134 for the approval of a special
contract for these emergency rates, in order to bring those rates into full force and effect
(preceding and succeeding the emergency rate tariff), upon approval, for the time period from
which the emergency usage of this water was initiated on October 20,2021, for a period not to
exceed a termination date of December 31, 2022.
Pennichuck East Utility On November 24, 2020, Pennichuck East Utility filed a request with
the NHPUC for a rate increase of 21.05% over its current rates for the test year 2019, effective
December 24, 2020, for which 15.0% of this increase request was related to a request for a
temporary rate increase effective for services rendered on or after December 24, 2020. The
15.0% temporary rate increase would be inclusive of a 2.98% QCPAC surcharge which was
approved on December 6, 2019 in Order No. 26,313 and a 1.97% QCPAC surcharge which is
currently pending in DW 20-019. This temporary rate increase request was approved on
August 16, 2021, with Order No. 26,508, at a rate of 14.03%.
On February 18, 2022, the NHPUC issued Order No. 26,586 approving a permanent rate increase of
16.79%, becoming effective with services rendered as of December 24, 2020 for its customers. The
implementation of this permanent rate increase has not yet gone effective, as the Company is seeking
final approval of its recoupment calculations for the rate increase, with the Commission.
Pittsfield Aqueduct - On November 16, 2020, Pittsfield Aqueduct filed a request with the
NHPUC for a rate increase of 11.18% over its current rates for the test year 2019, effective
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December 17,2020. The overall rate increase is subject to the normal regulatory filing process
with the NHPUC, as followed for all prior rate case filings, and as such, the final permanent rate
increase granted will be effective retroactive back to the filing date.
On November 9, 2021, the NHPUC issued Order No. 26,544 approving a permanent rate
increase of 5.45%, becoming effective with services rendered back to December 17,2020.
Financing
On April 2, 2021, the Company's Pennichuck Water Works subsidiary issued approximately
$5.2 million of tax-exempt and taxable bonds through the NH Business Finance Authority as
reimbursement for its 2020 capital improvements in Pennichuck Water Works' water supply,
distribution and support systems. The bond issuance was approved by the Pennichuck Board of
Directors and the Sole Shareholder. This issuance had previously received NHPUC approval on
Order No. 26,101, dated February 2, 2018, which authorized up to $32.5 million in bonds via
multiple issuances for the years 2018-2021. This April 2021 bond issuance was the last annual
issuance that will occur from this overall multi-year bonding approval.
On May 6, 2020, the NHPUC issued Order No. 26,354 which permitted Pennichuck Water Works
to borrow up to $2,563,662 from the federal Small Business Administration Paycheck Protection
Program. This loan includes a 2-year maturity at an interest rate of 1 percent, which includes a
provision in which a portion or all of the loan can be forgiven if all employees are kept on the
payroll for eight weeks upon disbursement of the loan proceeds. The loan proceeds were disbursed
by TD Bank, Inc., on behalf of the Small Business Administration on May 8,2020. The PPP loan
was approved by the Pennichuck Corporation Board of Directors and the Sole Shareholder.
On February 2, 2022, the Small Business Administration determined that the Company was
ineligible for forgiveness of the $2.5 million PPP loan which was established as part of the CARES
Act. The PPP loan is payable over two years from the initial approval date of the loan, at an interest
rate of 1%. Monthly payments on this obligation begin on February 18, 2022, with a final maturity
date of May 7, 2022.
Qualified Capital Project Adjustment Charge (OCPAC)
On February 19, 2020, Pennichuck Water Works filed a petition with the NHPUC for a 3.83%
QCPAC surcharge on all capital improvements completed and placed in service by Pennichuck Water
Works in 2019. On December 9, 2021, the NHPUC issued Order No. 26,555 approving a QCPAC
surcharge of 3.90% for capital projects placed in service in 2019. This order became effective with
services rendered back to April 23,2020 and allows for recovery in the form of a monthly
recoupment surcharge, to be collected over a twelve-month period from the date of the order.
On February 11,2021, Pennichuck Water Works filed a petition with the NHPUC for a 5.44%
QCPAC surcharge (inclusive of the 3.83% filed for and approved in Order No. 26,555) on all
capital improvements completed and placed in service by Pennichuck Water Works in 2020.
The Commission has not issued an Order approving this requested surcharge. When the
Commission issues the Order, the surcharge will become effective retroactively to customers on
a "service rendered basis" back to April 1,2021, which is the date for which Pennichuck Water
Works' annual bond issuance associated with these capital investments and the QCPAC
surcharge will be completed and funded. The Order will allow recoupment of the surcharge
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from all its customers based on their actual bills incurred between April 1, 2021 and the final
effective date of the Order.
On February 11, 2021, Pennichuck East Utility filed a petition with the NHPUC for a 4.08%
surcharge on all capital improvements completed and placed in service by Pennichuck East
Utility in 2020. The Commission has not issued an Order approving this requested surcharge.
When the Commission issues the Order, the surcharge will become effective retroactively on a
"service rendered basis" back to a date on or around September 28,2021, consistent with the
date for which Pennichuck East Utility completed its annual debt financing with CoBank, ACB,
which is done each year to convert FALOC borrowings used to fund capital projects for the
previous year, to a term loan with repayment terms of up to 25 years. The Order will allow
recoupment of the surcharge from all its customers based on their actual bills incurred between
this estimated September 28, 2021 date and the final effective date of the Order. The Company
has filed a settlement agreement with the Commission for this docket, along with the NH
Department of Energy Staff, which if approved would result in this recoupment being billed over
a five-month period of time, once the Order goes effective.
Other Events
PFOA Contamination Issues
As has been disclosed in the past, during 2016, the Company was significantly involved in
assisting the New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services ("NHDES") in assessing
and bringing remediation solutions to bear, in light of the PFOA contamination issues discovered
in the towns surrounding the Saint-Gobain Performance Plastics ("SGPP") site in north
Merrimack. This included self-instituting comprehensive and regular testing of the Company's
water supplies and water systems, not only in the area adjacent to this site, but taking and
processing at least two sets of tests at all water sources that the Company owns throughout the
State. This was done in order to detect if any levels of contamination existed in the water
sources, to aid the NHDES in completing their statewide assessment, and to allow the Company
to respond with certainty to any of its customers as to any detectable levels. With regards to the
water supply systems directly adjacent to or connected to the Merrimack Village District, the
Company has been taking periodic regularly scheduled samples since this contamination site was
disclosed in March of 2016. The results of these tests were that none of the Company's water
sources had detectable levels exceeding EPA lifetime advisory levels, or the State's emergency
and impending permanent standard detection levels.
Additionally, at the request of the NHDES, during 2016 and 2017 the Company was asked to
enter into a contract with SGPP for the design of the expansion of public water to residents in the
northern portion of Litchfield, where private wells had been contaminated, in some cases well
above acceptable levels. Based upon the results of that design work, the Company was then
contracted by SGPP to expand the public water system owned by the Company in Litchfield to
approximately 400 property owners, including nearly 10 miles of new water mains and nearly
10 miles of new service lines. The cost of the design work and the expansion of the water
system has and is being paid totally by SGPP and was contributed to the Company as
Contributions in Aid of Construction (CIAC), as assets to be owned by the Company, the Town
or DOT (for pavement restoration on town or State roads), or the residents (in the case of the
service lines) going forward. Also, during 2018 the Company was asked by NHDES to contract
for similar design services with SGPP for expansion of its public water system in southern
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Bedford. This project was initiated in 2018, and was completed during 2019, bringing water to
approximately 90 new customers in that community.
The Company was once again asked by the NHDES to design a further buildout for SGPP in
Litchfield to bring public water to an additional 30 residences in Litchfield, due to this
contamination site. SGPP entered into another contract with the Company for the expansion of
the Company's water system in that area, construction of which was completed between 2019
and early 2020, and was fully paid for by SGPP, and included in CI AC assets at such time as that
project was completed.
As of March 20, 2018, SGPP and NHDES entered into a Consent Decree. Under the Consent
Decree, SGPP needed to fulfill their obligations by November 2019 on all of these identified
activities, and/or request an extension of time to fulfill their obligations, due to circumstances
outside of their control, including the availability of qualified contractors to complete the
buildout of the public water system in the impacted areas.
A similar effort on behalf of Textiles Coated International, Inc. ("TCI") in the town of Amherst,
due to PFOA contamination related to their previous existence as a manufacturer in that town,
was also undertaken at the request of the NHDES. The Company was contracted to do design
services for the expansion of the public water system in that area of Amherst, by TCI, and
construction of the expansion of that part of the system began in 2017, and was fully completed
in 2018. Once again, the entire cost of this project was borne by TCI, and has become part of the
Company's owned infrastructure as CIAC assets.
The Company continues to work with the NHDES as it relates to PFAS issues that are continuing
and expanding in southern NH. This includes situations that have evolved in municipal systems
immediately adjacent to the Company's service areas, in the communities of Hudson and
Merrimack, as well as communities for which the Company owns the public water franchise,
such as Londonderry. The overall impact and build-out of the public water distribution system,
how that will be constructed, who will ultimately own or supply water into those systems, and
the overall cost and timing for those systems to be designed, bid and built, is yet to be
determined.
Company Goals - 2022
The Company's main goals for 2022 were/are as follows:
•

Complete Pennichuck East Utility Rate Case for test year 2019, with new permanent rates
expected late Q2 2022 (Order received in Q1 2022)

•

File annual Pennichuck Water Works and Pennichuck East Utility QCPAC cases (filed in
February 2022)

•

File Pennichuck Water Works rate case (2021 test year)

•

Complete Bond issuance reimbursement financing in April for Pennichuck Water Works
2021 Capex

•

Complete CoBank term loan financing in Q2/Q3 for Pennichuck East Utility 2021 Capex
rei mbu rsement/refi nance

•

Seek additional funding sources (loans or grants) from NH DWGTF, SRF, or other, for
planned capital projects
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•

Continued roll-out and implementation of company-wide Customer Security Program, to the
benefit and safety of customers and employees

•

Continued training, mentoring and succession planning throughout the organization, including
impending retirements occurring in 2022 and 2023 for certain key roles

•

Continue to promote customer education through newsletters and social media

•

Complete upgrades to the Bowers Dam spillway, including replacement of the spillway gate
and the construction of an auxiliary spillway

•

Amend process monitoring in systems treating for the removal of manganese to ensure
compliance with the proposed NHDES primary drinking water MCL

•

Continue to collect and process all necessary compliance samples to ensure compliance with
NHDES and EPA MCLs

•

Work with external engineering consultants to evaluate improvements to the Water Treatment
Plant to achieve optima! PFAS removal, chemical feed and storage, and improved monitoring
at the plant

•

Continued participation in multiple educational outreach efforts within the Company's customer
coverage radius

•

Continual enhancement and review of cybersecurity needs, risks and tools

•

Comprehensive review of Emergency Action Plan conducted during Internal Control Review
process

•

Cityworks (CMMS application)
• Refinement of Operational Insights assessment of the Nashua core, and extension of
that assessment to other Pennichuck Water Works and Pennichuck East Utility CWS
• Incorporation of vertical assets into Operational Insights

•

Asset Management
• Incorporate operations data (flows, pressure, water quality) into dashboards accessible
by "point and click" in GIS

•

Implementation of Source Water Protection Plans for Locke Lake and the Merrimack River

•

Continued monitoring and response to COVID-19 pandemic, including but not limited to:
• Timing of possible resumption of "full normal" operating activities
• Ongoing monitoring and protection of customers and employees served
• Continued monitoring and response to financial impact on the Company of the pandemic
• Compliancy with OSHA ETS, if upheld and enforceable

Sincerely,

Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer

PENNICHUCK*

25 WALNUT STREET
PO BOX 428
NASHUA, NH 03061-0428
(603)882-5191
FAX (603) 913-2305
WWW.PENNICHUCK.COM

VIA HAND DELIVERY

March 30, 2022

Ms. Lori Wilshire, President
Board of Aldermen
City of Nashua
229 Main Street
Nashua, NH 03060

Dear President Wilshire:
Enclosed, for your information, is a copy of Pennichuck's Audited Consolidated Financial
Statements for the years ended December 31,2021 and December 31, 2020.
Please contact me if you have any questions.

Larry U. Uoodhue
Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer

cc.

Mayor James Donchess
Board of Aldermen
Steven Bolton, Corporation Counsel
John Griffin, Chief Financial Officer
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MELANSON

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

Board of Directors and Stockholder
Pennichuck Corporation and Subsidiaries
Opinion
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Pennichuck Corporation
and Subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31,2021 and 2020,
and the related consolidated statements of income (loss), comprehensive income (loss), changes in
stockholder's equity (deficit), and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to
the consolidated financial statements.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Pennichuck Corporation and Subsidiaries as of December 31,
2021 and 2020, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
State of America (GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are
required to be independent of Pennichuck Corporation and Subsidiaries, and to meet our other
ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our
audits. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Merrimack, New Hampshire
Andover, Massachusetts
Greenfield, Massachusetts
Ellsworth, Maine

800.282,2440 I melansoncpas.com

MELANSON
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether
there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about
Pennichuck Corporation and Subsidiaries' ability to continue as a going concern for one year after
the date that the consolidated financial statements are available to be issued.
Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
to issue an auditors' report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial
likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a
reasonable user based on the consolidated financial statements.
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:
•

Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the
audit.

•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Pennichuck Corporation and Subsidiaries'
internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

•

Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the
aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about Pennichuck Corporation and Subsidiaries'
ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

800.282.2440 I melansoncpas.com

2

4) MELANSON
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal
control-related matters that we identified during the audit.

Merrimack, New Hampshire
March 23, 2022

800.282.2440 I melansoncpas.com

PENNICHUCK CORPORATION A N D SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Balance Sheets
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020
(in thousands, except share data)

2021
ASSETS
Property, Plant and Equipment, net

$

245,197

2020

$

242,469

Current Assets:
1,493

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash - RSFs and Restricted Accounts
Restricted cash - CIAC
Restricted cash - Bond Project Funds

11,619
1,037
255

Accounts receivable - billed, net
Accounts receivable - unbilled, net
Accounts receivable - other
Inventory
Prepaid expenses
Prepaid property taxes
Total Current Assets
Other Assets:
Deferred charges and other assets
Acquisition premium, net
Total Other Assets
TOTAL ASSETS

310
8,611

$

3,576
6,277

274
237
4,297
4,473

16
733
506
925

16
598
507
1,290

26,437

20,613

12,516
65,082

17,014
67,202

77,598

84,216

349,232

$

347,298

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PENNICHUCK CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Balance Sheets - Continued
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020
(in thousands, except share data)
2021

2020

STOCKHOLDER'S EQUITY (DEFICIT) AND LIABILITIES

Stockholder's Equity (Deficit):
Common stock; $0.01 par value; 1,000 shares
authorized, issued and outstanding
Additional paid in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive income

$

-

S

30,561
(34,381)
356

Total Stockholder's Equity (Deficit)

-

30,561
(30,403)
254

(3,464)

Long-Term Debt, Less Current Portion
and Unamortized Debt Issuance Costs
Current Liabilities:
Lines of credit
Current portion of long term debt
Accounts payable
Accrued property taxes
Deferred revenue
Accrued interest payable
Other accrued expenses
Accrued wages and payroll withholding
Customer deposits and other
Total Current Liabilities
Other Liabilities and Deferred Credits:
Deferred income taxes
Accrued pension liability
Unamortized debt premium
Deferred investment tax credits
Regulatory liability
Accrued post-retirement benefits
Customer advances
Contributions in aid of construction, net
Derivative instrument
Other long-term liabilities
Total Other Liabilities and Deferred Credits
TOTAL STOCKHOLDER'S EQUITY (DEFICIT) AND LIABILITIES

$

412

227,063

223,805

6,608
9,149
2,452
142
67
1,341
559
387
1,298

5,480
6,018
2,973

22,003

16,972

14,850
12,159
3,660
371
9,906
4,748
84
57,302
290
260

14,931
15,424
3,109
405
9,918
4,910
84
56,536
460
332

103,630

106,109

349,232

-

66
1,304
390
306
435

$

347,298

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PENNICHUCK CORPORATION A N D SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(in thousands)

2021
$

Operating Revenues

52,004

2020
$

50,091

Operating Expenses:
Operations and maintenance
Depreciation and amortization
Taxes other than income taxes

26,707
8,751
6,872

24,768
8,549
6,445

Total Operating Expenses

42,330

39,762

9,674

10,329

Operating Income
Interest Expense
Other, Net
Loss Before Provision for Income Taxes
(Provision) Benefit for Income Taxes
Net Loss

$

(13,902)
340

(11,896)
90

(3,888)

(1,477)

189

(507)

(3,699)

$

(1,984)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PENNICHUCK CORPORATION A N D SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(in thousands)

2021
Net Loss

$

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss):
Unrealized gain (loss) on derivatives
Reclassification of net income (loss) realized in net loss
Income tax provision relating to
other comprehensive income (loss)

2020

(3,699)

$

(1,984)

72
(68)

(149)
42

98_

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

43

102

Comprehensive Loss

$

(3,597)

(64)
$

(2,048)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PENNICHUCK CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Stockholder's Equity (Deficit)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021
(in thousands, except per share data)
Accumulated
Additional
Co imon Stock
Shares

Amount

Other

Paid in

Accumulated

Comprehensive

Capital

Deficit

Income

Total

Balance as of
January 1, 2021

1,000

$

-

$

30,561

Common dividends declared
Net loss

$ (30,403)

$

254

$

412

(279)

-

(279)

(3,699)

-

(3,699)

Other comprehensive income:
Unrealized gain on derivatives,
net of taxes of $29

43

43

59

59

Reclassification of net income
realized in net loss, net of taxes
of $39
Balance as of
December 31, 2021

1,000

$

$

30,561

$ (34,381)

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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356

$

(3,464)

PENNICHUCK CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Stockholder's Equity
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020
(in thousands, except per share data)

Common Stock
Shares
Amount

Additional
Paid in
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income

Total

Balance as of
January 1,2020

1,000

Common dividends declared

-

Net loss

-

$

-

$

30,561

-

$ (28,140)

$

318

$

2,739

-

(279)

-

(279)

-

(1,984)

-

(1,984)

Other comprehensive income:
Unrealized loss on derivatives,
net of taxes of $(63)

-

(89)

(89)

25

25

Reclassification of net income
realized in net loss, net of
taxes of $27
Balance as of
December 31, 2020

1,000

$

$

30,561

$ (30,403)

$

254

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$

412

PENNICHUCK CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(in thousands)

2020

2021
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Net Loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of deferred investment tax credits
Provision for deferred income taxes
Gain on disposition of property

(3,699)

(1,984)

8,843
(33)

8,637
(33)
534

(161)

(345)

Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable billed, unbilled and other
(Increase) decrease in inventory
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses
(Increase) decrease in refundable income taxes
(Increase) decrease in deferred charges and other assets
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and deferred revenue
Increase (decrease) in accrued property taxes
Increase (decrease) in accrued interest payable
Increase (decrease) in other
Net cash provided by operating activities

(1,084)
(135)
365

(3,154)
50
(387)
8
(2,079)
(549)

8,179
(521)
145
37
(2,387)

(419)
3,027

9,204

3,651

(8,816)

(10,165)

Cash Flows From Investing Activities:
Purchase of property, plant and equipment including debt
component of allowance for funds used during construction
Proceeds from sale of property

429
(8,387)

Net cash used for investing activities

(10,165)
(continued)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PENNICHUCK CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows - Continued
For the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
{in thousands)

2021
Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
Borrowings (payments) on lines of credit, net
Payments on long-term debt
Contributions in aid of construction
Proceeds from long-term borrowings
Debt issuance costs
Dividends paid

$

1,128
(6,046)
40
9,614
(302)
(279)

2020
$

(3,803)
(65,649)
35
87,290
(11,922)
(279)

Net cash provided by financing activities

4,155

5,672

Increase (Decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash

4,972

(842)

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of period

9,432

10,274

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of period

$

14,404

$

9,432

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow and Non-cash Items
For the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 (in thousands)

2020

2021
Cash paid during the period for:
Interest
Income taxes

$

Non cash items:
Contributions in aid of construction
Forgiveness of debt

10,907
105

$

2,093
89

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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11,207
96

3,391
89

PENNICHUCK CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1.

Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Description of Business
Pennichuck Corporation ("the Company/' "we/' or "our") is a holding company headquartered in Nashua, New Hampshire with five wholly owned operating subsidiaries:
Pennichuck Water Works, Inc., ("Pennichuck Water") Pennichuck East Utility, Inc.,
("Pennichuck East") and Pittsfield Aqueduct Company, Inc. ("PAC") (collectively referred to as
the Company's "utility subsidiaries"), which are involved in regulated water supply and
distribution to customers in New Hampshire; Pennichuck Water Service Corporation ("Service
Corporation") which conducts non-regulated water-related services; and The Southwood
Corporation ("Southwood") which has historically owned several parcels of undeveloped
land.
The Company's utility subsidiaries are engaged principally in the collection, storage,
treatment and distribution of potable water to approximately 38,394 customers throughout
the State of New Hampshire. The utility subsidiaries, which are regulated by the New
Hampshire Public Utilities Commission {the "NHPUC"), are subject to the provisions of
Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 980 "Regulated Operations."
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company
and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation.
Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment, which includes principally the water utility assets of the
Company's utility subsidiaries, is recorded at cost plus an allowance for funds used during
construction on major, long-term projects and includes property funded with contributions
in aid of construction.
Maintenance, repairs and minor improvements are charged to expense as incurred. Improvements which significantly increase the value of property, plant and equipment are capitalized.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents generally consist of cash, money market funds and other shortterm liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.
Restricted Cash - RSF
This restricted cash balance consists of funds maintained for the Rate Stabilization Fund
("RSF"), which was established in conformity with the requirements of NHPUC Order No.
25,292, as explained more fully in Note 14 of these financial statements. The RSF is an imprest
fund of $5 million, which is subject to funding above or below the imprest fund balance,
reflecting actual revenue performance as it relates to prescribed revenue levels supported by
the RSF. The excess or deficient amount (versus the $5 million imprest balance) is subject to
return or collection to rate payers over the succeeding three-year period of time, as of the
rate order issued with the next promulgated rate case filing. On November 7, 2017, the
NHPUC approved and issued Order No. 26,070 which established new rates for Pennichuck
Water. In addition, the rate order then authorized the reallocation of the existing $5,000,000
RSF among the Company's utility subsidiaries. Such that, Pennichuck Water's allocated share
of the RSF would now be $3,920,000, with the remaining balance of $1,080,000 to be
allocated between Pennichuck East and PAC. Rate order No. 26,179, under docket DW 17128 then allocated $980,000 of the $1,080,000 to Pennichuck East with the remaining
$100,000 to PAC (for which the approval to allocate these funds to PAC were approved in
November 2021 with rate order No. 26,544, in docket DW 20-153). The purpose for splitting
and allocating the original RSF funds amongst the regulated subsidiary companies is to
provide additional reserves at the individual entity level, which will aid in ensuring sufficient
capital reserve funds are available to each entity Company, to support its operations. For the
years ended December 31,2021 and 2020, the aggregated balances in the RSFs and restricted
cash accounts were approximately $11.6 million and $8.6 million, respectively.
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Restricted Cash - CI AC
This restricted cash balance consists of funds maintained for the income tax impact from
Contributions in Aid of Construction ("CIAC"), which was established in conformity with the
NHPUC approval provided to the Company's regulated utilities on November 27, 2019. This
amendment to the Company's tariffs allows for the recovery from developers and other CIAC
contributors, the tax costs needed to fully fund the associated tax liability created from the
elimination of an exemption whereby CIAC to water utilities was exempt from taxation, was
eliminated with the passage of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 ("the TCJA"). The
Infrastructure Investment and Jobs act of 2021 retroactively made CIAC non-taxable for
federal tax, reversing the effect federally of the TGA, whereas the taxation of CIAC for NH
Business Profits Taxes remains in effect currently. For the years ended December 31, 2021
and 2020, the balances in this restricted cash account were approximately $1.0 million and
$0.2, respectively. In accordance with the amended tariffs, these funds are the first used to
pay for income tax liability payments incurred by the Company, when and if actually incurred.
Restricted Cash - Bond Project Funds
This restricted cash balance consists of funds remaining from the issuance or funding of
semiannual debt service requirements of the Series 2014, 2019, 2020 and 2021 tax-exempt
bonds (the "Bonds") in December of 2014, April of 2019, April and August of 2020, and April
2021, respectively. The proceeds from those bond issuance transactions are maintained in
separate restricted cash accounts, with Trustee oversight, and are subject to withdrawal as a
reimbursement of eligible capital project expenditures for the years 2014 through 2020, as
defined by the indenture and issuance documents associated with each offering. The
restricted cash accounts are also used as a "conduit" for the transfer of money from operating
cash to restricted cash, allowing the Trustee to make the required payments to bondholders
for principal and interest due semi-annually.
As of December 31, 2020, the funds in these restricted cash accounts totaled approximately
$237,000. During 2021, approximately $214,000 was withdrawn from the restricted cash
accounts to make the principal and interest payments for the Bonds, on January 1, July 1 and
October 1. In December 2021, approximately $232,000 was transferred into these restricted
cash accounts from the Company's operating cash accounts, to provide the funds needed to
make the net principal and interest payments due on January 1, 2022 for the Bonds. As of
December 31, 2021, the funds in these restricted cash accounts totaled approximately
$255,000.
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Concentration of Credit Risks
Financial instruments that subject the Company to credit risk consist primarily of cash
(including cash equivalents and restricted cash) and accounts receivable. Cash balances are
invested in financial institutions insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
("FDIC"). At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had approximately $14,500,000 and
$9,300,000 in excess of FDIC insured limits, respectively. Our accounts receivable balances
primarily represent amounts due from the residential, commercial and industrial customers
of our regulated water utility operations, as well as receivables from our Service Corporation
customers.
Accounts Receivable - Billed, Net
Water utility accounts receivable (regulated) are recorded at invoiced amounts.
Non-regulated accounts receivable are recorded based upon contracted prices when the
Company obtains an unconditional right to payment under the terms of the contract.
The allowance for doubtful accounts is our best estimate of the amount of probable credit
losses in our existing accounts receivable and is determined based on historical write-off
experience and the aging of account balances. We review the allowance for doubtful
accounts quarterly. Account balances are written off against the allowance when it is
probable the receivable will not be recovered.
Accounts Receivable - Unbilled, Net
We read our customer meters on a monthly basis and record revenues based on meter
reading results. Information from the last meter reading date is used to estimate the value of
unbilled revenues through the end of the accounting period. Estimates of water utility
revenues for water delivered to customers but not yet billed are accrued at the end of each
accounting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Inventory
Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value, cost being determined using
the average cost method which approximates the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method.
Deferred Charges and Other Assets
Deferred charges include certain regulatory assets and other assets. Regulatory assets are
amortized over the periods they are recovered through NHPUC-authorized water rates. The
Company's utility subsidiaries have recorded certain regulatory assets in cases where the
NHPUC has permitted, or is expected to permit, recovery of these costs over future periods.
Currently, the regulatory assets are being amortized over periods ranging from 2 to 25 years.
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Unamortized Debt Issuance Costs
Unamortized debt issuance costs are amortized over the original term of the related bonds
and notes. The Company's utility subsidiaries have recorded unamortized debt issuance costs
in cases where the NHPUC has permitted, or is expected to permit, recovery of these costs
over future periods. The debt issuance costs are being amortized over the original lives of the
associated debt.
Contributions in Aid of Construction
Under construction contracts with real estate developers and others, the Company's utility
subsidiaries may receive non-refundable grants or advances for the cost of installing new
water mains or other capital assets. These grants or advances are recorded as CIAC. The
Company's utility subsidiaries also record to plant and CIAC the fair market value of developer
installed mains and any excess of fair market value over the cost of community water systems
purchased from developers. CIAC are amortized over the life of the related properties.
Paycheck Protection Program Loan
The Company accounts for its Paycheck Protection Program (PPP) loan in accordance with
the guidelines established by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) ASC 470,
"Debt". The guidance requires the company to account for the proceeds from the PPP loan
as debt and apply interest considering the ten-month interest payment deferral allowed for
the loan. The loan and accrued interest may be forgivable after eight or twenty-four weeks if
the loan proceeds are used for eligible purposes. The Company has elected to report the PPP
loan as long-term debt until forgiveness is received or denied. No income will be recognized
from the extinguishment of the PPP debt (whether as a result of forgiveness or otherwise)
until the Company has been legally released as the primary obligor of the loan.
Revenue Recognition - Regulated Entities
Standard charges for water utility services to customers are recorded as revenue, based upon
meter readings and contract service, as services are provided. The majority of the Company's
water revenues are based on rates approved by the NHPUC. Estimates of unbilled service
revenues are recorded in the period the services are provided. Provision is made in the
consolidated financial statements for estimated uncollectible accounts.
Revenue Recognition - Non-Regulated Entities
The Company derives its non-regulated revenues primarily from water management services
which include contract operations and maintenance, and water testing and billing services to
municipalities and small, privately owned community water systems. Revenue is measured
based on consideration specified in contracts with customers. The Company recognizes
revenue when it satisfies performance obligations under the terms of the contract which
generally occurs with the transfer of control of the services to the customer. Revenues from
unplanned additional work are based upon time and materials incurred in connection with
activities not specifically identified in the contract, or for which work levels exceed contracted
amounts.
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Revenues from real estate operations, other than undistributed earnings or losses from
equity method joint ventures, are recorded upon completion of a sale of real property. The
Company's real estate holdings outside of the Company's utility subsidiaries are comprised
primarily of undeveloped land.
The Company does not have any significant financing components as payment is received at
or shortly after the point of sale.
Contract Combination
To determine the proper revenue recognition method for contracts, the Company evaluates
whether two or more contracts should be combined and accounted for as one single contract
and whether the combined or single contract should be accounted for as more than one
performance obligation. This evaluation requires significant judgment and the decision to
combine a group of contracts or separate a combined or single contract into multiple
performance obligations could change the amount of revenue and profit recorded in a given
period. Contracts are considered to have a single performance obligation if the promise to
transfer the individual goods or services is not separately identifiable from other promises in
the contracts, which is mainly because the Company provides a significant service of
integrating a complex set of tasks and components into a single project or capability.
For contracts with multiple performance obligations, the Company allocates the transaction
price to each performance obligation using management's best estimate of the standalone
selling price of each distinct good or service in the contract. I n cases where the Company does
not provide the distinct good or service on a standalone basis, the primary method used to
estimate standalone selling price is the expected cost plus a margin approach, under which
management forecasts the Company's expected costs of satisfying a performance obligation
and then adds an appropriate margin for that distinct good or service.
Performance Obligations
For performance obligations related to operations, planned maintenance, and water testing
and billing services, control transfers to the customer over time as the services are provided.
These services are sold primarily to municipalities or small, privately owned community water
systems. The majority of the Company's unplanned maintenance contracts are billed on a
time and materials basis and revenue is recognized over time as the services are performed.
The majority of the Company's operations, planned maintenance, and water testing and
billing contracts are billed on a fixed price basis. For fixed price contracts, the Company
measures its progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation using a
time-based measure. This method is used because management considers time elapsed to
be the best available measure of progress on contracts.
Contract Estimates and Modifications
Due to the nature of the work required to be performed on many of the Company's
performance obligations, the estimation of total revenue and cost at completion is complex,
subject to many variables and requires significant judgment.
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As a significant change in one or more of these estimates could affect the profitability of the
Company's contracts, management reviews and updates the Company's contract-related
estimates regularly through a Company-wide project review process in which management
reviews the progress and execution of the Company's performance obligations and the
estimate at completion. As part of this process, management reviews information including,
but not limited to, any outstanding key contract matters, progress towards completion and
the related program schedule, and the related changes in estimates of revenues and costs.
Management must make assumptions and estimates regarding labor productivity and
availability, the complexity of the work to be performed, the cost and availability of materials,
among other variables.
The Company recognizes adjustments in estimated profit on contracts under the cumulative
catch-up method. Under this method, the impact of the adjustment on profit recorded to
date is recognized in the period the adjustment is identified. Revenue and profit in future
periods of contract performance is recognized using the adjusted estimate. If at any time the
estimate of contract profitability indicates an anticipated loss on the contract, the Company
recognizes the total loss in the period it is identified.
Variable Consideration
Variable consideration is estimated at the most likely amount to which the Company is
expected to be entitled. Any variable consideration is included in the transaction price to the
extent it is probable that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized will not
occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is resolved. Estimates
of variable consideration and the determination of whether to include estimated amounts in
the transaction price are based largely on assessments of legal enforceability, the Company's
performance, and all information (historical, current, and forecasted) that is reasonably
available to management.
Variable consideration is allocated entirely to a performance obligation o r t o a distinct good
or service within a performance obligation if it relates specifically to efforts to satisfy the
performance obligation or transfer the distinct good or service, and the allocation depicts the
amount of consideration the Company expects to be entitled.
Significant Judgments
The Company recognizes contract revenue for financial reporting purposes over time.
Progress toward completion of the Company's contracts is measured using a time-based
criterion for each contract and requires significant judgment. This method is used because
management considers time-elapsed to be the best available measure of progress on
contracts.
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Contract Assets and Liabilities

Billing practices are governed by the contract terms of each project based upon achievement
of milestones or pre-agreed schedules. Billings do not necessarily correlate with revenue
recognized using a time-elapsed method of revenue recognition. Contract assets include
unbilled amounts typically resulting from revenue under long-term contracts when the timeelapsed method of revenue recognition is utilized and revenue recognized exceeds the
amount billed to the customer, and right to payment is not unconditional. Contract liabilities
consist of deferred revenue.
Contract assets and liabilities are reported in a net position on a contract-by-contract basis at
the end of each reporting period. The Company classifies deferred revenue as current or
noncurrent based on the timing of when revenue is expected to be recognized. The current
portion of deferred revenue is included in current liabilities in the Balance Sheets.
Practical Expedients
The Company generally expenses pre-contract costs when incurred because the amortization
period would have been one year or less.
Income Taxes
Income taxes are recorded using the accrual method and the provision for federal and state
income taxes is based on income reported in the consolidated financial statements, adjusted
for items not recognized for income tax purposes. Provisions for deferred income taxes
are recognized for accelerated depreciation and other temporary differences. A valuation
allowance is provided to offset any net deferred tax assets if, based upon available evidence,
it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.
Investment tax credits previously realized for income tax purposes are amortized for financial
statement purposes over the life of the property, giving rise to the credit.
Adoption of New Accounting Standards
Effective January 1, 2021, the Company adopted FASB Accounting Standards Update (ASU)
2017-12, "Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815), Targeted Improvements to Accounting for
Hedging Activities," which made changes to align risk management activities and financial
reporting by permitting hedge accounting for risk components in hedging relationships
involving nonfinancial risk and interest rate risk, modified certain recognition and
presentation of the effects of hedging instruments, and provided other simplifications of
hedge accounting guidance. All transition requirements and elections are applied to existing
hedging relationships on the date of adoption. For a cash flow hedge existing at the date of
adoption, the Company applied this guidance through a cumulative-effect adjustment related
to eliminating the separate measurement of ineffectiveness to accumulated other
comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment to the opening balance of retained
earnings as of the beginning of the fiscal year that the Company adopts the amendments in
this ASU and prospectively for presentation and disclosure guidance. There was no prior year
effect to the financial statements as a result of adoption.
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New Accounting Standards to be Adopted in the Future
Leases
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, "Leases". The ASU requires all leases with
lease terms more than 12 months to be capitalized as a right of use asset and lease liability
on the balance sheet at the date of lease commencement. Leases will be classified as either
finance leases or operating leases. This distinction will be relevant for the pattern of expense
recognition in the income statement. This ASU will be effective for the Company for the year
ending December 31, 2022. The Company is currently in the process of evaluating the impact
of adoption of this ASU on the financial statements.
Credit Losses
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, "Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial
Instruments". The ASU requires a financial asset (including trade receivables) measured at
amortized cost basis to be presented at the net amount expected to be collected. Thus, the
income statement will reflect the measurement of credit losses for newly recognized financial
assets as well as the expected increases or decreases of expected credit losses that have
taken place during the period. This ASU will be effective for the Company for the year ending
December 31, 2023. The Company is currently in the process of evaluating the impact of
adoption of this ASU on the financial statements.

2.

Property, Plant and Equipment
The components of property, plant and equipment as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 were
as follows:
Useful Lives
(in thousands)

2021

Utility Property:
Land and land rights
$
Source of supply
Pumping and purification
Transmission and distribution, including
services, meters and hydrants
General and other equipment
Intangible plant
Construction work in progress

5,956
74,318
32,374

2020
$

5,972
73,721
31,846

202,139
17,017
790
376

194,244
17,023
790
792

Total utility property
otal non-utility property

332,970
5

324,388
5

Total property, plant and equipment
Less accumulated depreciation

332,975
(87,778)

324,393
(81,924)

Property, Plant and Equipment, net $

20

245,197

$

242,469

(in years)

-

3-70
7-64
15-91
7-75
20

5-10

The provision for depreciation is computed on the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of the assets, which range from 3 to 9 1 years. The weighted average composite
depreciation rate was 2.44% and 2.58% in 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Restricted Cash
The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash
reported within the consolidated balance sheets that sum to the total of the same such
amounts shown in the statements of cash flows.

(in thousands)

2021

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash - RSFs and Restricted Accounts
Restricted cash-CIAC
Restricted cash - Bond Project Funds

$

Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
shown in the consolidated statements of cash flows $

2020

1,493
11,619
1,037
255

$

310
8,611
274
237

14,404

$

9,432

Amounts included in restricted cash represent those required to be set aside as outlined in
Note 1.

Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable consisted of the following at December 31, 2021 and 2020:
(in thousands)

2021

Accounts receivable - billed

$

Less allowance for doubtful accounts

3,663

2020
$

(87)

Accounts receivable - billed, net
Accounts receivable - unbilled

4,365
(68)

$

3,576

$

4,297

$

6,277

$

4,473

$

6,277

$

4,473

Less allowance for doubtful accounts
Accounts receivable - unbilled, net
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Deferred Charges and Other Assets
Deferred charges and other assets as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 consisted of the
following:
Recovery
Period
(in thousands)

2021

2020

(in years)

Regulatory assets:
Source development charges

$

Miscellaneous studies

1,016

$

1,099

1,004

5 - 25

998

2-25

Unrecovered pension and post-retirement

dl

benefits expense
Total regulatory assets
Supplemental executive retirement plan asset
Total deferred charges and other assets

di Weexpectto

$

9,560

14,197

11,675

16,199

841

815

12,516

$

17,014

recover theseamounts consistent with the anticipated expense recognition of these assets.

Post-Retirement Benefit Plans
Pension Plan and Other Post-Retirement Benefits
The Company has a non-contributory, defined benefit pension plan (the "DB Plan") that
covers substantially all employees. The benefits are based on years of service and participant
compensation levels. The Company's funding policy is to contribute annual amounts that
meet the requirements for funding under the U.S. Department of Labor's Pension Protection
Act. Contributions are intended to provide not only for benefits attributed to service to date,
but also for those expected to be earned in the future.
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Post-retirement medical benefits are provided for eligible retired employees through one of
two plans (collectively referred to as our "OPEB Plans"). For employees who retire on or after
the normal retirement age of 65, benefits are provided through a post-retirement plan (the
"Post-65 Plan"). For eligible non-union employees who retire prior to their normal retirement
age and who have met certain age and service requirements, benefits are provided through
a post-employment medical plan (the "Post-employment Plan"). Future benefits under the
Post-65 Plan increase annually based on the actual percentage of wage and salary increases
earned from the plan inception date to the normal retirement date. The benefits under the
Post-employment Plan allow for the continuity of medical benefits coverage at group rates
from the employee's retirement date until the employee becomes eligible for Medicare,
which are fully funded by the retiree. The liability related to the Post-65 Plan will be funded
from the general assets of our Company.
Upon retirement, if a qualifying employee elects to receive medical benefits under our
Post-65 Plan, we pay up to a maximum monthly benefit of $382 based on years of service.
The following table sets forth information regarding our DB Plan and our OPEB Plans as of
December 31, 2021 and for the year then ended:
(in thousands)

DB Plan

Projected benefit obligations
Employer contribution
Benefits paid, excluding expenses
Fair value of plan assets
Accumulated benefit obligation
Funded status
Net periodic benefit cost

$

39,455
1,144
(839)
27,296
35,558
(12,159)
1,950

OPEB Plans
$

5,443
11
(85)
695
(4,748)
415

Amount of the funded status recognized in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet consisted of:
Current liability
Non-current liability

(4,748)

(12,159)

Total

$

23

(12,159)

$

(4,748)

The following table sets forth information regarding our DB Plan and our OPEB Plans as of
December 31, 2020 and for the year then ended:
(in thousands)

DB Plan

Projected benefit obligations
Employer contribution
Benefits paid, excluding expenses
Fair value of plan assets
Accumulated benefit obligation
Funded status
Net periodic benefit cost

OPEB Plans
5,549
11
(72)
639

39,050
1,491
(1,964)
23,626
35,020
(15,424)

Amount of the funded status recognized in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet consisted of:
Current liability
Non-current liability
Total

$

1,688

(4,910)
345

(15,424)

(4,910)

(15,424)

$

(4,910)

The components of net periodic benefit cost other than the service cost component are
included in the line item operations and maintenance in the consolidated statements of
income (loss), as the amounts are immaterial.
Changes in plan assets and benefit obligations recognized in regulatory assets, for the year
ended December 31, 2021, were as follows:
(in thousands)

OPEB Plans

DB Plan

Regulatory asset balance, beginning of period
Net actuarial gain incurred during the period
Prior service cost incurred during the period
Recognized net actuarial gain

$

Regulatory asset balance, end of period

$

24

12,525
(3,420)

$

1,672
(510)
16
(72)

$

1,106

-

(651)
8,454

Changes in plan assets and benefit obligations recognized in regulatory assets, for the year
ended December 31, 2020, were as follows:
(in thousands)

DB Plan

Regulatory asset balance, beginning of period
Net actuarial loss incurred during the period
Prior service cost incurred during the period
Recognized net actuarial gain

$

Regulatory asset balance, end of period

$

10,269
2,733

OPEB Plans

$

1,078
621
16
(43)

$

1,672

-

(477)
12,525

Amounts recognized in regulatory assets for the DB and OPEB Plans that have not yet been
recognized as components of net periodic benefit cost of the following as of December 31,

2021:
(in thousands)

DB Plan

OPEB Plans

Net actuarial loss
Prior service cost

$

8,454
-

$

1,205
(99)

Regulatory asset

$

8,454

$

1,106

Amounts recognized in regulatory assets for the DB and OPEB Plans that have not yet been
recognized as components of net periodic benefit cost of the following as of December 31,
2020:
(in thousands)

DB Plan

Net actuarial loss
Prior service cost

$

Regulatory asset

$

12,525

OPEB Plans

$

12,525

1,787
(115)

-

$_

1,672

The key assumptions used to value benefit obligations and calculate net periodic benefit cost
for our DB and OPEB Plans include the following:
2021
Discount rate for net periodic benefit cost, beginning of year
Discount rate for benefit obligations, end of year (a)
Expected return on plan assets for the period (net of investment expenses)
Rate of compensation increase, beginning of year
Healthcare cost trend rate (applicable only to OPEB Plans)
w

2.39%
2.74%
7.00%
3.00%
5.50%

2020
3.13%
2.39%
7.00%
3.00%
6.00%

An increase or decrease in the discount rate of 0.5% w o u l d result in a change in the funded status as of December
31, 2021, for the DB Plan and the OPEB Plans of approximately $3.3 m i l l i o n and $515 thousand, respectively.
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The estimated net actuarial loss for our DB Plan that will be amortized in 2022 from the
regulatory assets into net periodic benefit costs is $329,000. The estimated net actuarial gain
and prior service cost for our OPEB Plans that will be amortized in 2022 from the regulatory
assets into net periodic benefit costs is $25,300.
In establishing its investment policy, the Company has considered the fact that the DB Plan is
a major retirement vehicle for its employees and the basic goal underlying the establishment
of the policy is to provide that the assets of the DB Plan are invested in accordance with the
asset allocation range targets to achieve our expected return on DB Plan assets. The
Company's investment strategy applies to its OPEB Plans as well as the DB Plan. The expected
long-term rate of return on DB Plan and OPEB Plan assets is based on the Plans' expected
asset allocation, expected returns on various classes of Plan assets, as well as historical
returns.
The assets of our Post-65 Plan are held in two separate Voluntary Employee Beneficiary
Association {"VEBA") trusts. The VEBA plan assets are maintained in directed trust accounts
at a commercial bank.
The investment strategy for the Company's DB Plan and OPEB Plans utilizes several different
asset classes with varying risk/return characteristics. The following table indicates the asset
allocation percentages of the fair value of the DB Plan and OPEB Plans' assets for each major
type of plan asset as of December 31, 2021, as well as the targeted allocation range:
DB Plan
Asset
Allocation
Range
Equities
Fixed income
Cash and cash equivalents
Total

61%
15%
24%

30% -100%
20%-70%
0%-15%

100%

OPEB Plans
Asset
Allocation
Range
74%
17%
9%
100%
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30% -100%
0% - 50%
0% -15%

The following table indicates the asset allocation percentages of the fair value of the DB Plan
and OPEB Plans' assets for each major type of plan asset as of December 31, 2020, as well as
the targeted allocation range:
DB Plan
Asset
Allocation
Range
Equities
Fixed income
Cash and cash equivalents
Total

61%
39%
0%

30% -100%
20% - 70%
0% -15%

OPEB Plans
Asset
Allocation
Range
69%
24%
7%

30% -100%
0% - 50%
0% -15%

100%

100%

Management uses its best judgment in estimating the fair value of its financial instruments.
However, there are inherent weaknesses in any estimation technique. Therefore, for substantially all financial instruments, the fair value estimates herein are not necessarily indicative of
the amounts that we could realize in a sales transaction for these instruments. The estimated
fair value amounts have been measured as of year-end and have not been reevaluated or
updated for purposes of these consolidated financial statements subsequent to those
respective dates.
Investments in common stock and mutual funds are stated at fair value by reference to
quoted market prices. Money market funds are valued utilizing the net asset value per unit
based on the fair value of the underlying assets as determined by the directed trustee.
The DB Plan also holds assets under an immediate participation guarantee group annuity
contract with a life insurance company. The assets under the contract are invested in pooled
separate accounts and in a general investment account. The pooled separate accounts are
valued based on net asset value (NAV) per unit of participation in the fund. The NAV is used
as a practical expedient to estimate fair values. This practical expedient is not used when it is
determined to be probable that the fund will sell the investment for an amount different than
that reported at NAV. These accounts have no unfunded commitments or significant
redemption restrictions at year-end. The value of these units is determined by the trustee
based on the current market values of the underlying assets of the pooled separate accounts.
Therefore, the value of the pooled separate accounts is deemed to be at estimated fair value.
The general investment account is not actively traded, and significant other observable inputs
are not available. The fair value of the general investment account is calculated by discounting
the related cash flows based on current yields of similar instruments with comparable durations.
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The methods described above may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of
net realizable value or reflective of future fair values. Furthermore, while the Plan's management
believes the valuation methodologies are appropriate and consistent with other market
participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of
certain investments could result in a different fair value measurement at the reporting date.
A fair value hierarchy which prioritizes the inputs to valuation methods is used to measure
fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to
unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements).
The fair value of DB Plan and OPEB Plan assets by levels within the fair value hierarchy used
as of December 31, 2021 was as follows:
(in thousands)

Fair Value

DB Plan:
Guaranteed Interest Accounts

$

Total Assets in the Fair Value Hierarchy

6,642

Level 1

$

-

Level 2

$

Level 3

$

6,642

6,642

-

-

6,642

20,654

-

-

-

27,296

-

-

6,642

373
138
120
63

373
138
120
-

63

Total Assets in the Fair Value Hierarchy
Investments measured at net asset vaIue(a!

694

631

63

OPEB Plans Investments, at Fair Value

694

631

63

(a)

Investments measured at net asset value
DB Plan Investments, at Fair Value
OPEB Plans:
Common stocks
Mutual funds
Fixed income funds
Money market funds

Totals

$ 27,990

$

631

$

63

$

6,642

(a) In accordance w i t h Subtopic 820-10, certain investments t h a t were m e a s u r e d a t f a i r v a l u e using the n e t a s s e t v a l u e
per share (or its e q u i v a l e n t ) practical e x p e d i e n t have n o t been c l a s s i f i e d i n the f a i r value hierarchy. The f a i r v a l u e
a m o u n t s p r e s e n t e d in t h i s t a b l e are i n t e n d e d to p e r m i t r e c o n c i l i a t i o n o f the f a i r value hierarchy t o the a m o u n t s
p r e s e n t e d in the s t a t e m e n t s of assets a v a i l a b l e for b e n e f i t s of the Plans.
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The fair value of DB Plan and OPEB Plan assets by levels within the fair value hierarchy used
as of December 31, 2020 was as follows:
{in thousands)

Fair Value

DB Plan:
Guaranteed Interest Accounts

$

Total Assets in the Fair Value Hierarchy
Investments measured at net asset value

ta)

DB Plan Investments, at Fair Value

5,731

Level 1
$

Level 2
$

Level 3
$

5,731

5,731

-

-

5,731

17,895

-

-

-

23,626

-

-

5,731

349
124
143
23
639
-

349
124
143
616

23
23

639

616

23^

OPEB Plans:
Common stocks
Mutual funds
Fixed income funds
Money market funds
Total Assets in the Fair Value Hierarchy
Investments measured at net asset va I ue(a)
OPEB Plans Investments, at Fair Value
Totals

$ 24,265

$

616

$

23

-

$

5,731

(a) In accordance with Sub topic 820-10, certain investments that were measured at fair value using the net asset value
per share (or its equivalent) practical expedient have not been classified in the fair vaiue hierarchy. The fair va ue
amounts presented in this table are intended to permit reconciliation of the fair value hierarchy to the amounts
presented in the statements of assets available for benefits of the Plans.

Level 1: Based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets.
Level 2: Based on significant observable inputs.
Level 3: Based on significant unobservable inputs.
The following table summarizes investments at fair value based on NAV per share as of
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively:
{in thousands)

Fair Value

December 31, 2021
Pooled Separate Accounts:
Equities
Fixed Income
Total Pooled Separate Accounts
December 31, 2020
Pooled Separate Accounts:
Equities
Fixed Income
Total Pooled Separate Accounts
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$

16,648
4,006

$

20,654

$

14,391
3,504

$

17,895

The following table presents a period-end reconciliation of DB Plan assets measured and
recorded at fair value on a recurring basis, using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3):
(in thousands)

2021

Balance, beginning of year

$

5,731

Plan transfers
Contributions
Benefits paid
Return on plan assets (net of investment expenses)
Balance, end of year

2020
$

202
599
110
$

6,642

5,155
1,941
373
(1,844)
106

$

5,731

In order to satisfy the minimum funding requirements of the Employee Retirement Income
Security Act of 1974, applicable to defined benefit pension plans, the Company anticipates it
will contribute approximately $0.75 million to the DB Plan in 2022.
The following maximum benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid in the years indicated:
DB Plan

(in thousands)
2022

$

2023
2024
2025
2026
2027 and thereafter
Total

$

1,178
1,236
1,380

OPEB Plans

$

1,500
1,567

113
119
134
144
153

9,803

1,001

16,664

$

1,664

Because the Company is subject to regulation in the state in which it operates, we are
required to maintain our accounts in accordance with the regulatory authority's rules and
regulations. In those instances, we follow the guidance of ASC Topic 980 ("Regulated
Operations"). Based on prior regulatory practice, we recorded underfunded DB Plan and
OPEB Plan obligations as a regulatory asset, and we expect to recover those costs in rates
charged to customers.
Defined Contribution Plan
In addition to the defined benefit plan, the Company provides and maintains a defined
contribution plan covering substantially all employees. Under this plan, the Company
matches 100% of the first 3% of each participating employee's eligible compensation
contributed to the plan. The matching employer's contributions, recorded as operating
expenses, were approximately $294,000 and $272,000 for the years ended December 31,
2021 and 2020, respectively.
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7.

Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Leases
The Company's corporate office space, as well as certain office equipment, is leased under
operating lease agreements. Total rent expense was approximately $385,300 and $389,800
for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
The remaining non-cancelable lease commitments for the corporate office space and leased
equipment as of December 31, 2021 were as follows:
(in thousands)

Amount

2022

$

2023
2024
2025

348
347
330

2026
Thereafter

363
3,449

Total

8.

364

$

5,201

Financial Measurement and Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Management uses its best judgment in estimating the fair value of its financial instruments.
However, there are inherent weaknesses in any estimation technique. Therefore, for substan
tially all financial instruments, the fair value estimates herein are not necessarily indicative of
the amounts that we could realize in a sales transaction for these instruments. The estimated
fair value amounts have been measured as of the period end and have not been reevaluated
or updated for purposes of these consolidated financial statements subsequent to those
respective dates.
A fair value hierarchy is used, which prioritizes the inputs to valuation methods used to measure
fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable
inputs (Level 3 measurements). The three levels of fair value hierarchy are as follows:
Level 1: Based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets.
Level 2: Based on significant observable inputs.
Level 3: Based on significant unobservable inputs.
An asset or liability's level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input
that is significant to the fair value measurement.
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For assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis, the fair value measurement by levels within the fair value hierarchy used as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 were
as follows:

Total

(in thousands)
Liabilities:
Interest rate swap

$

(290)

December 31, 2021
Level 1
Level 2

$

Level 3

$ (290)

$

December 31, 2020
(in thousands)

Total

Liabilities:
Interest rate swap

$ (460)

Level 1

Level 2

$

$

Level 3

(460)

$

The carrying value of certain financial instruments included in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets, along with the related fair value, as of December 31, 2021 and 2020
was as follows:
2021
(in thousands)
Liabilities:
Interest rate swap liability

$

2020

Carrying

Fair

Carrying

Fair

Value

Value

Value

Value

(290)

$

(290)

$

(460)

$

(460)

The fair market value of the interest rate swap represents the estimated cost to terminate
this agreement as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 based upon the then-current interest rates
and the related credit risk.
The carrying values of our cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable and
accounts payable approximate their fair values because of their short-term maturity dates.
The carrying value of CIAC approximates its fair value because it is expected that this is the
amount that will be recovered in future rates. The carrying values of lines of credit and longterm debt approximate fair value, as interest rates approximate market rates.

9.

Revenue from Contracts with Customers - Non-Regulated Entities
Revenue is recognized when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to
customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to be entitled to in
exchange for those goods or services.
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Disaggregation of Revenue
For the years ended December 31,2021 and 2020, revenue recognized for goods and services
transferred over time totaled $3,339,069 and $2,777,693, respectively.
For the year ended December 31, 2021, approximately 58% of revenues were from largecontract customers, 25% of revenues were from small contract customers (con-ops), and 17%
of revenues were from residential maintenance and other customers. For the year ended
December 31, 2020, approximately 62% of revenues were from large-contract customers,
21% of revenues were from small contract customers (con-ops), and 17% of revenues were
from residential maintenance and other customers. In addition, substantially all of the
Company's contracts were service-related type contracts.

Income Taxes
The components of the federal and state income tax provision (benefit) as of December 31,
2021 and 2020 were as follows:
(in thousands)

2021

Federal

$

State
Amortization of investment tax credits

2020

(151)
(5)
(33)

$

656
(116)
(33)

Total

$

(189)

$

507

Current

$

(127)
(62)

$

33
474

$

(189)

$

507

Deferred
Total

The following is a reconciliation between the statutory federal income tax rate and the
effective income tax rate for 2021 and 2020:
2021
Statutory federal rate
State tax rate, net of federal benefits
Permanent differences
Amortization of investment tax credits
Effective tax rate
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2020

21.0 %
6.1
(23.0)
0.9

21.0 %
6.1
(63.6)
2.2

5.0 %

(34.3) %

The temporary items that give rise to the net deferred tax liability as of December 31, 2021
and 2020 were as follows:
(in thousands)

2021

Liabilities:
Property-related, net
Other
Total liabilities
Assets:
Pension accrued liability
Net operating loss carryfonward
Alternative minimum tax credit
NH Business Enterprise Tax credits
Other
Less valuation allowance
Total assets
Net non-current deferred income tax liability

2020

$ 23,417

$ 22,496

740

704

24,157

23,200

1,817
6,331
476
1,103
682

1,659
5,415
476
957
718

10,409
(1,102)

9,225
(956)

9,307

8,269

$ 14,850

14,931

The Company has accumulated federal net operating losses. The federal tax benefit of the
cumulative net operating losses is approximately $5 million, begins to expire in 2033, and is
included in deferred income taxes in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31,
2021. Approximately 75% of the net operating losses are 100% available to be applied to
taxable income in future years and are not subject to the TGA as they were generated prior
to the 2018 tax year. The enactment of the TGA now limits the net operating loss shelter to
80% of taxable income, for post-2017 tax year losses. The TGA also provides for net operating
losses to be carried forward indefinitely instead of limited to 20 years, as is the case for pre2018 losses; however, carrybacks of these losses are no longer permitted. Approximately 25%
of the net operating losses were generated in 2019 through 2021 and therefore are subject
to the 80% limitation.
The Company has accumulated New Hampshire net operating losses. The New Hampshire tax
benefit of the cumulative net operating loss is approximately $1.6 million which begins to
expire in 2023 and is included in deferred income taxes in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as
of December 31, 2021.
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As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, it is estimated that approximately $476,000 and
$476,000, respectively, of cumulative federal alternative minimum tax credits may be carried
forward indefinitely as a credit against our regular tax liability.
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had New Hampshire Business Enterprise
Tax ("NHBET") credits of approximately $1,100,000 and $960,000, respectively. NHBET
credits begin to expire in 2022. It is anticipated that these NHBET credits will not be fully
utilized before they expire; therefore, a valuation allowance has been recorded related to
these credits. The valuation allowance decreased by approximately $146,000 and $167,000
in the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
Investment tax credits resulting from utility plant additions are deferred and amortized. The
unamortized investment tax credits are being amortized through the year 2033.
The Company had a regulatory liability related to income taxes of approximately $9,906,000
and $9,918,000 as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. This represents the
estimated future reduction in revenues associated with deferred taxes which were collected
at rates higher than the currently enacted rates and the amortization of deferred investment
tax credits.
A review of the portfolio of uncertain tax positions was performed. In this regard, an
uncertain tax position represents the expected treatment of a tax position taken in a filed tax
return, or as planned to be taken in a future tax return, that has not been reflected in
measuring income tax expense for financial reporting purposes. As a result of this review, it
was determined that the Company had no material uncertain tax positions, and tax planning
strategies will be used, if required and when possible, to avoid the expiration of any future
net operating loss and/or tax credits.
The Company's practice is to recognize interest and/or penalties related to income tax
matters in "Other, Net" in the Consolidated Statements of Income. We incurred no interest
in 2021 and 2020. We incurred no penalties during the years ended December 31, 2021 and
2020.
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Long-Term Debt
Long-term debt as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 consisted of the following:
2021

(in thousands)

Principal

Unsecured note payable to City of Nashua, 5-75%,
due 12/25/2041
Unsecured Business Finance Authority:
Revenue Bonds (Series 2014B), 4.50%, due Januaiy 1,2045
Revenue Bonds (Series 2018A), interest rates from 4.375% to 5.00%,
due April 1, 2048
Revenue Bonds (Series 20188), 4.33%, due April 1, 2028
Revenue Bonds (Series 2019A), interest rates from 2.19% to 4.15%,
due April 1, 2049
Revenue Bonds (Series 2020A), interest rates from 3.15% to 4%,
due April 1, 2050
Revenue Bonds (Series 2020B), 5.25%, due April 1, 2023
Revenue Bonds (Series 2020C), interest rates from 1.25% to 4.02%,
due September 1,2055 (3)
Revenue Bonds (Series 2021A), interest rates from 4% to 5%,
due April 1, 2051
Revenue Bonds (Series 2021B), 1.05%, due April 1, 2024
Unsecured notes payable to bank, floating-rate, due March 1, 2030
Unsecured notes payable to bank, 3.62%, due June 20, 2023
Unsecured notes payable to bank, 4.20% due December 20,2041
Unsecured notes payable to bank, 4.83%, due December 20, 2041
Unsecured notes payable to bank, 4.25%, due June 20, 2033
Unsecured notes payable to bank, 4.90%, due March 6, 2040
Unsecured notes payable to bank, 5-33%, due June 20, 2043
Unsecured notes payable to bank, 4.38%, due September 20,2044
Unsecured notes payable to bank, 3.98%, due January 1, 2046
Unsecured notes payable to bank, 4.18%, due October 20, 2046
Unsecured notes payable to bank, 4.25%, due December 20,2046
Unsecured New Hampshire State Revolving Fund ("SRF") notes (1)
Unsecured New Hampshire Drinking Water 8i Groundwater Trust
Fund ("DWGTF") notes (2)
Paycheck Protection Program Loan, 1.00%, due May 7, 2022
Unamortized debt issuance costs for defeased obligations,
allowed by regulation

Unamortized
Debt issuance
Costs

99,632
4,725

101

4,460
805

235
44

7,945

267

7,000
255

275
7

72,420

7,836

S,065
125
2,267
1,141
1,094
840
626
524
324
1,091
781
1,131
2,547
22,592

240
5
10
2
4
5
5
30
10
15

8,520
2,544

10

12

11
12
152

2

2,952

Total
Less current portion
Less unamortized debt issuance costs

248,454
(9,149)
(12,242)

Total long-term debt, less current portion
and unamortized debt issuance costs

227,063

12,242

(1) SRF notes a re due through 20S1 at interest rates ranging from 1% to 3.8%. These notes are payable In 120 to 240 consecutive monthly
installments of principal and Interest. The 1% rate applies to construction projects still in process untii the earlier of (i) the date of
substantial completion of the Improvements, or (ii)varlous dates specified in the note (such earlier date being the Interest rate change
date). Commencing on the Interest rate change date, the interest rate changes to the lower of (i)the rate as stated in thenoteor(ii) 80% of
the established 11 General Obligations Bond Index published during the specified time period before the interest rate change date.
(2) DWGTF notes are due through 2050 at Interest rates ranging from 2.7% to 3.4%. These notes are payable in 360 consecutive monthly
installments of principle and interest. The 1% rate applies to construction projects still in process until the earlier of (i) the date of
substantial completion of the improvements or (¡¡) June 1,2020 as specified in the note (such earlier date being theinterest rati change
date). Commencing on the interest rate change date, the Interest rate change to the rate as stated in the note.
(3) Revenue Bonds (2020C) proceeds were partially used to advance refund the 2014A, 2015A and 2015B bonds with maturity dates of
January 1,2045, January 1,2046, and January 1,2031 respectively. The advance refunding proceeds are held In escrow until their future
call dates of December 2023 and December 2024, to then be used to facilitate retirement of the bonds. Of the remaining $7,836 of
Unamortized Debt Issuance Costs as of December 31, 2020 generated by the September 2nd issuance, $6,491 are directly tied the advance
refunding and will fuliy-amortiieon a straight-tine basis until their respective call dates.
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2020

Unamortized
Debt Issuance
(in thousands)

Principal

Costs

Unsecured note payable to City of Nashua, 5.75%,
due 12/25/2041

$

102,173

$

Unsecured Business Finance Authority:
Revenue Bonds (Series 2014B), 4.50%, due January 1, 2045

4,830

105

4,460
900

244

8,080

277

7,000

284
12

Revenue Bonds (Series 2018A), interest rates from 4.375% to 5.00%,
due April 1,2048
Revenue Bonds (Series 2018B), 4.33%, due April 1, 2028

50

Revenue Bonds (Series 2019A), interest rates from 2.19% to 4.15%,
due April 1,2049
Revenue 8onds (Series 2020A), interest rates from 3.15% to 4%,
due April 1, 2050
Revenue Bonds (Series 2020B), 5.25%, due April 1, 2023
Revenue Bonds (Series 2020C), interest rates from 1.25% to 4.02%,

380

Unsecured notes payable to bank, floating-rate, due March 1,2030
Unsecured notes payable to bank, 3.62%, due June 20,2023

due September 1,2055 (3)

73,630
2,494
1,219

10,654
12
4

Unsecured notes payable to bank, 4.20%, due Oecember 20,2041

1,128

4

Unsecured notes payable to bank, 4.83%, due December 20,2041

864

5

Unsecured notes payable to bank, 4.25%, due June 20, 2033

667
541
332

31
11

Unsecured notes payable to bank, 4.90%, due March 6,2040
Unsecured notes payable to bank, 5.33%, due June 20, 2043

5

Unsecured notes payable to bank, 4.38%, due September 20, 2044

1,118

Unsecured notes payable to bank, 3.98%, due January 1,2046
Unsecured New Hampshire State Revolving Fund ("SRF") notes (1)

800

15
12

23,048

162

Unsecured New Hampshire Drinking Water & Groundwater Trust
Fund ("DWGTF") notes (2)

8,675

Paycheck Protection Program Loan, 1.00%, due May 7, 2022
Unamortized debt issuance costs for defeased obligations,
altowed by regulation
Total

-

-

3,162

244,883

Less current portion

11

2,544

S

15,060

(6,018)

Less unamortized debt issuance costs

(15,060)

Total long-term debt, less current portion
and unamortized debt issuance costs

$

223,805

(1) SRF notes are due through 20S1 at interest rates ranging from 1 * to 3.8*- These notes a re payable in 120 to 240 consecutive monthly Installments
of principal and interest. The IS rate applies to construction projects stiH in process until the earl er of (i) the date of substantial completion of the
improvements, or (ri| various dates specified in the note (such ear ier date being the interest rate change date). Commencing on the interest rate
change date, the interest rate changes to the lower of (i) the rate as stated in the note or (ii) 8 0 * of the established 11 General Obligations Bond Index
published during the specified time per od before the interest ratechange date.
(2) DWGTF notes aredue through 2050at interest rates ranging from IWto 3.38*. These notes are payable in 360 consecutive monthly installments
of principle and interest. The I S rate appl es to construction projects st II in process until the ear ier of (i) the date of substantial completion of the
improvements or (ii) June 1. 2020 as specified in the note (such earlier date being the Interest rate change date). Commencing on the interest rate
change date, the interest rate change to the rate as stated in the note.
(3) Revenue Bonds (2020C) proceeds were partially used to advance refund the 2014A, 2015A and 2015B bonds with maturity dates of January 1,
2045, January 1, 2046, and January 1. 2031 respectively. The advance refunding proceeds are held in escrow until their future call dates of
December 2023 and December 2024, to then be used to facilitate retirement of the bonds Of the remaining $10,654 of Unamortized Debt Issuance
Costs as of December 31, 2020 generated by the September 2nd Issuance, $9,269 a re directly tied the advance refunding and will fully-a mortize on a
straight-line basis until their respective call dates.
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The aggregate principal payment requirements subsequent to December 31, 2021 are as
follows:
(in thousands)
Amount
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027 and thereafter

$

Total

$ 248,454

9,149
7,853
7,080
7,338
7,659
209,375

Several of Pennichuck Water's loan agreements contain a covenant that prevents Pennichuck
Water from declaring dividends if Pennichuck Water does not maintain a minimum net
worth of $4.5 million. As of December 31,2021 and 2020, Pennichuck Water's net worth was
$97.8 million and $103.6 million, respectively.
The 2014A, 2014B, 2018A, 2018B, 2019A, 2020A, 2020B, 2020C, 2021A and 2021B bonds
were issued under a new bond indenture and loan and trust agreement, established with the
issuance of the 2014 Series Bonds, which contains certain covenant obligations upon
Pennichuck Water, which are as follows:
Debt to Capital Covenant - Pennichuck Water cannot create, issue, incur, assume or
guarantee any short-term debt if (1) the sum of the short-term debt plus its funded debt
("Debt") shall exceed 85% of the sum of its short-term debt, funded debt and capital stock
plus surplus accounts ("Capital"), unless the short-term debt issued in excess of the 85%
is subordinated to the Series 2014 bonds. Thereby, the ratio of Debt to Capital must be
equal to or less than 1.0. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, Pennichuck Water has a
Debt to Capital Coverage ratio of 0.7 and 0.6, respectively.
All Bonds Test - Additionally, Pennichuck Water cannot create, issue, incur, assume or
guarantee any new funded debt, if the total outstanding funded debt ("Total Funded
Debt") will exceed the sum of MARA (as defined in Note 14 of these consolidated financial
statements) and 85% of its Net Capital Properties ("MARA and Capital Properties"), and
unless net revenues or EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization) shall equal or exceed for at least 12 consecutive months out of the 15
months preceding the issuance of the new funded debt by 1.1 times the maximum
amount for which Pennichuck Water will be obligated to pay in any future year ("Max
Amount Due"), as a result of the new funded debt being incurred. Thereby, the ratio of
Total Funded Debt to MARA and Capital Properties must be equal to or less than 1.0; as
of December 31, 2021 and 2020, this coverage ratio was 0.6 and 0.6, respectively. Also,
the ratio of EBITDA to the Max Amount Due must be equal to or greater than 1.1; as of
December 31, 2021 and 2020, this ratio was 2.3 and 2.6, respectively.
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Rate Covenant Test - If during any fiscal year, the EBITDA of Pennichuck Water shall not
equal at least 1.1 times all amounts paid or required to be paid during that year
("Amounts Paid"), then the Company shall undertake reasonable efforts to initiate a ratemaking proceeding with the NHPUC, to rectify this coverage requirement in the
succeeding fiscal years. Thereby, the ratio of EBITDA to Amounts Paid must be equal to
or greater than 1.1; as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Rate Covenant coverage ratio
was 2.19 and 3.57, respectively.
Pennichuck East's loan agreement for its unsecured notes payable to a bank of $12.4 million
and $9.2 million at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, contains a minimum debt
service coverage ratio requirement of 1.10. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, this ratio was
1.47 and 2.07, respectively.
On September 2, 2020, Pennichuck Water issued approximately $73.6 million of taxable
bonds through the New Hampshire Business Finance Authority to: (1) advance refund and
refinance Pennichuck Water's series 2014A, 2015A, and 2015B bonds; (2) early retire an AULI
bank loan set to mature on March 1, 2021 with a "bullet" maturity due at that date; (3)
complete the replenishment of the Material Operating Expense Revenue Requirement
(MOERR) RSF for Pennichuck Water back to nearly its authorized imprest value; and (4) repay
Pennichuck Water's Fixed Asset Line of Credit (FALOC) for monies borrowed while awaiting
rate relief from this bonding event and the Pennichuck Water rate case approved by NHPUC
Order No. 26,425. The bond issuance was approved by the Company's Board of Directors and
the Sole Stockholder. This issuance received NHPUC approval in Order No. 26,383 dated July
24, 2020, which authorized up to $75.0 million in bonds.
On October 29, 2021, the NHPUC issued NISI Order No. 26,538, with an effective date of
November 30, 2021, approving Pennichuck East Utility's request to borrow $2,546,632 from
CoBank, ACB for a 25-year term. This financing was used to fund a "one time" refill and
replenishment of the Company's Material Operating Expense Revenue Requirement
(MOERR) RSF, as well as repay intercompany debt incurred to support the Company as it
awaits final permanent rate relief (set to occur in early 2022), and the reestablishment of its
RSF funds. On November 30, 2021, Pennichuck East Utility closed on this term loan financing
transaction with CoBank, ACB in the amount of $2,546,632 for a term of 25 years at an
interest rate of 4.25%,
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As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had a $2.3 million and $2.5 million,
respectively, interest rate swap which qualifies as a derivative. This financial derivative is
designated as a cash flow hedge. This financial instrument is used to mitigate interest rate
risk associated with our outstanding $2.3 million loan which has a floating interest rate
based on the three-month London Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR") plus 1.88% as of
December 31, 2021. The combined effect of the LIBOR-based borrowing formula and the
swap produces an "all-in fixed borrowing cost" equal to 5.95%. The fair value of the financial
derivative, as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, included in our Consolidated Balance Sheets
under "Other Liabilities and Deferred Credits" as "Derivative instrument" was $290,000 and
$460,000, respectively. Changes in the fair value of this derivative were deferred in
accumulated other comprehensive income.
Swap settlements are recorded in the statements of income (loss) with the hedged item as
interest expense. During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, $68,000 loss and
$42,000 income, respectively, was reclassified pre-tax from accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) to interest expense as a result of swap settlements. The
Company expects to reclassify approximately $76,000, pre-tax, from accumulated other
comprehensive income to interest expense as a result of swap settlements, over the next
twelve months.
Paycheck Protection Program Loan
On May 7, 2020, the Company received loan proceeds in the amount of approximately
$2,543,600 under the Small Business Administration (SBA) PPP. The PPP, established as part
of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (CARES Act), which was enacted
March 27, 2020, provides for loans to qualifying businesses for amounts up to 2.5 times the
average monthly payroll expenses of the qualifying business. The loan and accrued interest
may be forgiven after eight or twenty-four weeks providing the Company uses the loan
proceeds for eligible purposes, including payroll, benefits, rent and utilities, and maintains
certain payroll levels.
Any unforgiven portion of the PPP loan is payable over two years, from the date of the initial
approval of the loan, at an interest rate of 1%, with deferral of payments for the first ten
months. Early in 2022, the Company's application for forgiveness was denied and the PPP
loan has been reclassified to current portion of long-term debt with a maturity date of May
7, 2022.
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Lines of Credit
In December of 2020, the Company's existing Working Capital Line of Credit (WCLOC) and
Pennichuck Water's FALOC were renewed. The WCLOC was extended and renewed for an
additional year and a half, expiring on June 30, 2022, whereas the FALOC was extended and
renewed for an additional two and a half years, expiring on June 30, 2023. Additionally, as a
part of the renewal and extension of the FALOC, the capacity of that facility was increased
from $10 million to $12 million, while the Company's WCLOC remains at $4 million.
Pennichuck East's Fixed Asset Line of Credit (PEU FALOC) was renewed and extended for an
additional three years on November 24, 2020, expiring on September 30,2023, at its current
facility level of $3 million. The two Fixed Asset Lines of Credit (FALOC and PEU FALOC) are
used to fund construction work in progress on capital projects, which will be refinanced into
long-term term loan obligations or issued bond indebtedness, annually.
Short-term borrowing activity under the Company's WCLOC for the years ended
December 31, 2021 and 2020 was:
(in thousands)

2021

Established line as of December 31,
Maximum amount outstanding during period
Average amount outstanding during period
Amount outstanding as of December 31,
Weighted average interest rate during period
interest rate as of December 31,

$

2020

4,000
2,312
942
1.88%
1.84%

$

4,000
3,006
1,354
624
2.47%
1.90%

Short-term borrowing activity under Pennichuck Water's FALOC for the years ended
December 31, 2021 and 2020 was:
(in thousands)

2021

Established line as of December 31,
Maximum amount outstanding during period
Average amount outstanding during period
Amount outstanding as of December 31,
Weighted average interest rate during period
Interest rate as of December 31,
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$

12,000
5,851
3,775
5,851
1.88%
1.84%

2020
$

12,000
7,223
3,610
4,550
2.80%
1.90%

Short-term borrowing activity under Pennichuck East's FALOC for the years ended
December 31, 2021 and 2020 was:

Established line as of December 31,
Maximum amount outstanding during period
Average amount outstanding during period
Amount outstanding as of December 31,
Weighted average interest rate during period
Interest rate as of December 31,

2021
$ 3,000
1,171
909
757
2.13%
2.09%

2020
$
3,000

1,106
1,022
306
2.80%
2.15%

The Company's revolving credit loan facilities with TD Bank contain certain covenant
obligations upon Pennichuck Water, which are as follows:
Debt to Capital Covenant - Pennichuck Water cannot create, issue, incur, assume or
guarantee any short-term debt if (1) the sum of the short-term debt plus its funded debt
("Debt") shall exceed 85% of the sum of its short-term debt, funded debt and capital stock
plus surplus accounts ("Capital"), unless the short-term debt issued in excess of the 85%
is subordinated to the loan facility. Thereby, the ratio of Debt to Capital must be equal to
or less than 1.0. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, Pennichuck Water has a Debt to
Capital Coverage ratio of 0.7 and 0.6, respectively.
All Bonds Test - Additionally, Pennichuck Water cannot create, issue, incur, assume or
guarantee any new funded debt, if the total outstanding funded debt ('Total Funded
Debt") will exceed the sum of MARA (as defined in Note 14 of these consolidated financial
statements) and 85% of its Net Capital Properties ("MARA and Capital Properties"), and
unless net revenues or EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization) shall equal or exceed for at least 12 consecutive months out of the 15
months preceding the issuance of the new funded debt by 1.1 times the maximum
amount for which Pennichuck Water will be obligated to pay in any future year ("Max
Amount Due"), as a result of the new funded debt being incurred. Thereby, the ratio of
Total Funded Debt to MARA and Capital Properties must be equal to or less than 1.0; as
of December 31, 2021 and 2020, this coverage ratio was 0.6 and 0.6, respectively. Also,
the ratio of EBITDA to the Max Amount Due must be equal to or greater than 1.1; as of
December 31, 2021 and 2020 this ratio was 2.3 and 2.6, respectively.
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Rate Covenant Test - If during any fiscal year, the EBITOA of Pennichuck Water shall not
equal at least 1.1 times all amounts paid or required to be paid during that year
("Amounts Paid"}, then the Company shall undertake reasonable efforts to initiate a ratemaking proceeding with the NHPUC, to rectify this coverage requirement in the
succeeding fiscal years. Thereby, the ratio of EBITDA to Amounts Paid must be equal to
or greater than 1.1; as of December 31,2021 and 2020, the Rate Covenant coverage ratio
was 2.19 and 3.57, respectively.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
The following table presents changes in accumulated other comprehensive income by
component for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020:
Interest Rate Contract
(in thousands)

2021

Beginning balance

$

254

2020
$

318

Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications

43

(89)

Amounts reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive income

59

25

102

(64)

356

254

Net current period other comprehensive income (loss)
Ending balance

$

The following table presents reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive
income for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020:

Details about Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income Components
(in thousands)

Amounts Reclassified
from Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income

2021

Gain on cash flow hedges:
Interest rate contracts
Amounts reclassified from accumulated
other comprehensive income
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Affected line Item in
the Statement Where
Net Income is Presented

2020

98
(39)

$

59

$

42
(17)
25

Interest expense
Tax expense
Net of tax

14.

Transaction with the City of Nashua
On January 25, 2012, in full settlement of an ongoing Eminent Domain lawsuit filed by the
City of Nashua ("City") and with the approval of the NHPUC, the City acquired all of the
outstanding shares of the Company and, thereby, indirect acquisition of its regulated
subsidiaries. The total amount of the acquisition was $150.6 million ("Acquisition Price") of
which $138.4 million was for the purchase of the outstanding shares, $5.0 million for the
establishment of a Rate Stabilization Fund, $2.6 million for legal and due diligence costs, $2.3
million for severance costs, $1.3 million for underwriting fees, and $1.0 million for bond
discount and issue costs. The entire purchase of $150.6 million was funded by Genera!
Obligation Bonds ("Bonds") issued by the City of Nashua. The Company is not a party to the
Bonds and has not guaranteed nor is obligated in any manner for the repayment of the Bonds.
The Company remains an independent corporation with an independent Board of Directors,
with the City of Nashua as its sole stockholder.
Pennichuck Water, Pennichuck East, PAC, Service Corporation, and Southwood will continue
as subsidiaries of Pennichuck Corporation and Pennichuck Water, Pennichuck East and PAC
will continue as regulated companies under the jurisdiction of the NHPUC. The terms of the
merger and the requisite accounting and rate-setting mechanisms were agreed to in the
NHPUC Order No. 25,292 ("PUC Order") dated November 23, 2011.
Transactions with Related Party - City of Nashua
The Company issued a promissory note to the City of Nashua in the amount of approximately
$120 million to be repaid over a thirty (30) year period with monthly payments of
approximately $707,000, including interest at 5.75%. The Company recorded an additional
amount of approximately $30.6 million as contributed capital. The remaining outstanding
balance of the note payable to the City at December 31, 2021 and 2020 was approximately
$99.6 million and $102 million, respectively, as disclosed in Note 11 to these consolidated
financial statements. During 2021 and 2020, dividends of approximately $279,000 and
$279,000, respectively, were declared and paid to the City. The dividends paid to the City
during 2021 comprised approximately $279,000 of regular quarterly dividends declared and
paid; and no special dividend was declared or paid in 2021. The dividends paid to the City
during 2020 comprised approximately $279,000 of regular quarterly dividends declared and
paid; and no special dividend was declared or paid in 2020.
Additional ongoing transactions occur in the normal course of business, between the
Company and the City, related to municipal water usage, fire protection and sewer billing
support services, and property taxes related to real property owned by the Company within
the City of Nashua. For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively,
approximately $3.9 million and $3.4 million were paid to the Company by the City for
municipal water consumption, fire protection charges, and sewer billing support services.
Conversely, the Company paid property taxes to the City of Nashua of approximately $2.3
million for the year ended December 31, 2021, and approximately $2.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2020.
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Rate Stabilization Fund- Restricted Cash
As a part of the acquisition, the Company agreed to contribute $5,000,000 of the proceeds
from the settlement transaction to Pennichuck Water, which was used to establish an RSF,
allowing for the maintenance of stable water utility rates and providing a mechanism to
ensure the Company's continued ability to meet its obligations under the promissory note to
the City, in the event of adverse revenue developments. Restricted cash consists of amounts
set aside in the RSF account and is adjusted monthly as required in the NHPUC Order, as
discussed in Note 1 of these financial statements.
Municipal Acquisition Regulatory Asset ("MARA")
Pursuant to the NHPUC Order, the Company established a new Regulatory asset (MARA) which
represents the amount that the Acquisition Price exceeded the net book assets of the
Company's regulated subsidiaries (Pennichuck Water, Pennichuck East, and PAC) at
December 31, 2011. The initial amount of the MARA was approximately $89 million for the
regulated companies, offset by a non-regulated amount of approximately $4.8 million. The
MARA is to be amortized over a thirty (30) year period in the same manner as the repayment
of debt service for the City's acquisition bonds. The balance in the MARA at December 31,2021
was approximately $68.9 million, reduced by the non-regulated credit of approximately $3.8
million.
Aggregate amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 totaled
approximately $2,119,000 and $2,061,000, respectively.
The following table represents the total estimated amortization of MARA:

(in thousands)

Estimated
Amortization
Expense

2022

$

2023
2024
2025
2026
2026 and thereafter
Total

2,253
2,328
2,409
2,498
53,411
$
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2,183

65,082

Segment Reporting

For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, and as of those dates, the following
financial results were generated by the segments of the Company:
(in thousands)
Operating Revenues:
Pennichuck Water
Pennichuck East
Pittsfield Aqueduct
Subtotal Regulated Segment
Service Corporation
Other
Total Operating Revenues
Depreciation and Amortization Expense:
Pennichuck Water
Pennichuck East
Pittsfield Aqueduct
Subtotal Regulated Segment
Service Corporation
Other
Total Depreciation and Amortization Expense
Operating Income:
Pennichuck Water
Pennichuck East
Pittsfield Aqueduct
Subtotal Regulated Segment
Service Corporation
Other
Total Operating Income
Interest Expense:
Pennichuck Water
Pennichuck East
Pittsfield Aqueduct
Subtotal Regulated Segment
Service Corporation
Other
Total Interest Expense

2021
$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

2020

38,024
9,818
810
48,652
3,339
33_
52,004

$

7,520
1,238
116
8,874

$

(123)
8,751

8,346
988
71_
9,405
251
18_
9,674

7,193
765
40_
7,998
1
5,903
13,902

$

$

$

$

$

$

36,688
9,805
808
47,301
2,778
12
50,091

7,341
1,212
116
8,669
(120)
8,549

8,961
1,148
80
10,189
119
21^
10,329

4,903
777
40
5,720
2
6,174
11,896

(continued)
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(continued)
(in thousands)
Income Taxes Provision (Benefit):
Pennichuck Water
Pennichuck East
Pittsfield Aqueduct
Subtotal Regulated Segment
Service Corporation
Other
Total Income Taxes Provision (Benefit)
Net Income (Loss):
Pennichuck Water
Pennichuck East
Pittsfield Aqueduct
Subtotal Regulated Segment
Service Corporation
Other
Total Net Income (Loss)
Total Net Assets:
Pennichuck Water
Pennichuck East
Pittsfield Aqueduct
Subtotal Regulated Segment
Service Corporation
Other
Total Net Assets
Total Liabilities:
Pennichuck Water
Pennichuck East
Pittsfield Aqueduct
Subtotal Regulated Segment
Service Corporation
Other
Total Liabilities

2021
$

2020

1,192
185

$

20_

$

1,397
77
(1,663)
(189)

1,728
738

21_

$

2,487
34
(2,014)
507

$

198
38
13_
249_
173
(4,121)

$

2,409
(361)
19_
2,067
84
(4,135)

$

(3,699)

$

(1,984)

S

298,304
65,183
2,912
366,399
151
(17,318)
349,232

$

298,004
61,881
3,056
362,941
(12)
(15,631)
347,298

$

$

$

200,536
57,107
1,370
259,013
43
93,640
352,696

$

$

$

194,433
53,757
1,402
249,592
(31)
97,325
346,886
(continued)
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(continued)

(in thousands)
Total Long-Term Debt (less current portion
and unamortized debt insurance costs):
Pennichuck Water
Pennichuck Hast
Pittsfield Aqueduct
Subtotal Regulated Segment
Service Corporation
Other
Total Long-Term Debt

2021

$

2020

105,875
24,124
132
130,131

$

-

$

96,932
227,063

103,019
21,023
136
124,178
-

$

99,627
223,805

Rate Cases
Pennichuck Water
On October 21,2021, Pennichuck Water filed an emergency tariff sheet request for approval
with the NHPUC. The Company's emergency tariff filing was on behalf of a single customer,
the Merrimack Village District (MVD), and would allow this customer to purchase bulk water
at Pennichuck Water's variable cost of production. The initial rate to be billed will be $0.67
per cubic feet. This would allow MVD access to Pennichuck Water's bulk water supply in late
2021 and during 2022, while MVD's water supply systems are brought into compliance with
water quality regulations for PFAS contaminants.
On November 12, 2021, the NHPUC issued Order No. 26,552, with an effective date of
November 20, 2021, approving Pennichuck Water's request for an emergency tariff filing on
behalf of a single customer, the MVD. This emergency tariff is on a temporary basis and must
not exceed a term longer than six months from the effective date.
In conjunction with this, Pennichuck Water also opened a docket under DW 21-134 for the
approval of a special contract for these emergency rates, in order to bring those rates into
full force and effect (preceding and succeeding the emergency rate tariff), upon approval, for
the time period from which the emergency usage of this water was initiated on October 20,
2021, for a period not to exceed a termination date of December 31, 2022.
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Pennichuck East
On November 24, 2020, Pennichuck East filed a request with the NHPUC for a rate increase
of 21.05% over its current rates for the test year 2019, effective December 24,2020, for which
15.00% of this increase is related to a request for a temporary rate increase effective for
services rendered on or after December 24, 2020. The temporary rate increase is subject to
approval by the Commission which is separate and distinct from the final rate increase
approval, as the Commission's final determination on the permanent rate increase request is
processed to completion. The 15.00% temporary rate increase would be inclusive of a 2.98%
Qualified Capital Project Adjustment Charge (QCPAC) surcharge which was approved on
December 6, 2019 in Order No. 26,313 and a 1.97% QCPAC surcharge which is currently
pending in DW 20-019.
On August 16, 2021, the NHPUC issued Order No. 26,508 approving temporary rates at
14.03% effective on a service rendered basis as of December 24, 2020. The temporary rate
increase was inclusive of a QCPAC surcharge of 2.98% which was approved in 2019 within
order No. 26,313.
In addition to the rate increase requested, Pennichuck East requested certain modifications
to its ratemaking structure which were similarly approved for Pennichuck Water on July 24,
2020 by NHPUC Order No. 26,383. These modifications would include:
•

creating a Material Operating Expense Factor (MOEF), an expense factor on top of its
material operating expenses to cover inflationary increases between rate filings, as a
component of that portion of its allowed revenues in determining permanent rates;

•

inclusion of actual NHBET cash payments in its revenue requirement calculation;

•

reprioritizing the use of Debt Service Revenue Requirement (DSRR) 0.1 funds;

•

recovery of State Revolving Loan Fund and Drinking Water Groundwater Trust Fund
debt issuance costs; and

•

re-establishment of imprest levels of the components of the RSF account and the
retention of a previously approved reconciliation mechanism.

Final approval by the NHPUC on new permanent rates and the requested modifications to its
ratemaking structure for PEU, was expected to be approved early 2022 (see footnote 18).
Pittsfield Aqueduct
On November 16, 2020, PAC filed a request with the NHPUC for a rate increase of 11.18%
over its current rates for the test year 2019, effective December 17, 2020. The overall rate
increase is subject to the normal regulatory filing process with the NHPUC, as followed for all
prior rate case filings, and as such, the final permanent rate increase granted would be
effective retroactive back to the filing date.
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The request for the overall permanent rate increase, as filed was based upon increased PAC
operating expenses since the last allowed rate increase in 2014 (for the 2012 test year), and
to provide sufficient revenues to pay for investments made in its treatment systems to ensure
its continued compliance with the Safe Drinking Water Act.
In addition to the rate increase requested, PAC is requesting certain modifications to its
ratemaking structure which were similarly approved for Pennichuck Water on November 7,
2017 by the NHPUC in Order No. 26,070 and July 24, 2020 by Order No. 26,383. These
modifications would include:
•

use of a five-year trailing average of revenues and expenses as a test period;

•

creating a "three bucket" RSF structure, comprised of: a Material Operating Expense
Revenue Requirement (MOERR) RSF, a DSRR RSF, and a City Bond Fixed Revenue
Requirement Rate Stabilization Fund (CBFRR) RSF to provide rate stabilization and
cash flow coverage for operating expenses, debt service, and the CBFRR portion of
revenues, between permanent rate filings;

•

creating three "buckets" of allowed revenues comprising the allowed revenues for
the Company, in their component levels, including:
o

Operating Expense Revenue Requirement (OERR)
• Comprised of the MOERR and the Non-material Operating Expense
Revenue Requirement (NOERR)

o

DSRR
•

o

Comprised of the DSRR 1.0 and DSRR 0.1

CBFRR
• Which already existed in PAC's rate structure, but is being redefined as an
overall component in determining allowed revenues;

•

creating a MOEF, an expense factor on top of its test year material operating
expenses, in defining the overall value of the MOERR portion of allowed revenues,
and to cover inflationary increases between rate filings, as a component of that
portion of its allowed revenues in determining permanent rates;

•

inclusion of actual NHBET cash payments in its revenue requirement calculation; and

•

the establishment of a revenue requirement structure, and the mechanics and
methodology for its approval, resetting and funding, inclusive of the RSFs and allowed
revenue "buckets" shown above, which is the same as approved for Pennichuck Water
by NHPUC Order Nos. 26,070, and 26,383.
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On November 9, 2021, the NHPUC issued Order No. 26,544 approving an overall permanent
rate increase of 5.45%, which became effective with services rendered back to December 17,
2020. In addition, the Order approved the requested modifications to its ratemaking structure.
Qualified Capital Project Adjustment Charge
Pennichuck Water
On February 19, 2020, Pennichuck Water filed a petition with the NHPUC for a 3.83% QCPAC
surcharge on all capital improvements completed and placed in service by Pennichuck Water
in 2019.
On December 9, 2021, the NHPUC issued Order No. 26,555 approving a QCPAC surcharge of
3.90% for capital projects placed in service in 2019. This order became effective with services
rendered back to April 23,2020 and allows for recovery in the form of a monthly recoupment
surcharge, to be collected over a twelve-month period from the date of the order.
Pennichuck East
On February 13, 2020, Pennichuck East filed a petition with the NHPUC for a 1.97% surcharge
on all capital improvements completed and placed in service by Pennichuck East in 2019. The
Commission has not issued an Order approving this requested surcharge. When the
Commission issues the Order the surcharge will become effective retroactively on services
rendered basis back to November 23,2020. The Order will allow recoupment of the surcharge
from all its customers based on their actual bills incurred between November 23, 2020 and
the final effective date of the Order. However, on September 23,2021 the NHPUC issued
Order No. 26,525 which approved Pennichuck East's subsequent request to embed the
surcharge into the current rate case in pendency (see footnote 18). Final approval by the
NHPUC on this QCPAC surcharge, combined with new permanent rates and the requested
modifications to its ratemaking structure for PEU, was expected to be received in early 2022
(see footnote 18).

17.

COVID-19 Pandemic Impact
In March 2020, the World Health Organization ("WHO") recognized COVID-19 as a global
pandemic and the President of the United States of America declared the COVID-19 outbreak
in the United States a national emergency. This prompted many national, regional, and local
governments to implement preventative or protective measures, such as travel and business
restrictions, temporary business closures, and wide-sweeping quarantines and stay-at-home
orders.
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During the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company's services have generally been considered
essential in nature and have not been materially interrupted. As the situation continues to
evolve, management is closely monitoring the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on all
aspects of the Company's business, including how it impacts customers, subcontractors,
suppliers, vendors, and employees, in addition to how the COVID-19 pandemic impacts the
Company's ability to provide services to customers. We believe the ultimate impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic on operating results, cash flows and financial condition is likely to be
determined by factors which are uncertain, unpredictable, and outside of our control. The
situation surrounding COVID-19 remains fluid, and if disruptions do arise, they could
materially adversely impact our business.

Subsequent Events
The Company has evaluated the events and transactions that have occurred through March
23, 2022, the date that these consolidated financial statements were available for issuance.
Pennichuck East Utility Rate Case
On February 18, 2022, the NHPUC issued Order No. 26,586 approving a permanent rate
increase of 16.79%, becoming effective with services rendered as of December 24, 2020 for
its customers.
In this Order, the Commission also approved modifications to its current ratemaking structure
which include:
•

the creation of a MOEF of 4%;

•

inclusion of actual NHBET cash payments in its revenue requirement calculation;

•

reprioritizing the use of DSRR 0.1 funds;

•

recovery of debt issuance costs; and

•

re-establishment of the prescribed imprest levels of the components of the RSF
accounts.

PPP Loan
On February 2, 2022, the SBA determined that the Company was ineligible for forgiveness of
the $2.5M PPP Loan which was established as part of the CARES Act.
The PPP loan is payable over two years from the initial approval date of the loa n, at an interest
rate of 1%. Monthly payments on this obligation begin on February 18, 2022, with a final
maturity date of May 7, 2022.
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